Eastleigh House
Upper Market Street
Eastleigh SO50 9YN

Wednesday, 6 July 2022
POLICY AND PERFORMANCE SCRUTINY PANEL
will meet on
Thursday, 14 July 2022
beginning at
6:45 pm
in the
Rooms 11/12/13, Eastleigh House, Upper Market Street, Eastleigh SO50 9YN

TO:

Councillor Richard Gomer (Chair)
Councillor James Duguid (Vice-Chair)
Councillor Janice Asman
Councillor Steve Beer
Councillor Alan Broadhurst
Councillor Steven Broomfield

Staff Contacts:

Councillor Bhavin Dedhia
Councillor Dave Kinloch
Councillor Cameron Spencer
Councillor Sara Tyson-Payne

Nikki Dunne, Democratic Services Officer; Tel: 023 8068 8298;
Email: nikki.dunne@eastleigh.gov.uk
Natalie Wigman, Corporate Director Tel: 023 8068 8405 Email:
natalie.wigman@eastleigh.gov.uk

JOANNE CASSAR
Executive Head of Governance

Copies of this and all other agendas can be accessed via the Council's website
as well as in other formats.
Members of the public are invited to speak on general items at the start of the meeting,
and on individual agenda items at the time the item is discussed. To register please
contact the Democratic Services Officer above.
Please be aware that the filming, audio recording, photography and use of social media is
permitted at meetings open to the public. We ask that you notify the Chair or Support
Officers in advance so that all attendees can be notified, and reasonable facilities can be
provided. More information can be found here.
Please note that Councillors will be using tablet devices to access meeting papers.

1

AGENDA
1.
2.

Apologies
Declarations of Interest
Councillors are invited to declare interests in relation to items of business on the
agenda. Any interests declared will be recorded in the Minutes.

3.

Minutes (Pages 5 - 8)
To consider the Minutes of the meeting held on 23 June 2022.

4.

Public Participation
You can submit questions in advance of the meeting to the following email
address: democratic.services@eastleigh.gov.uk. The deadline for submissions is
12pm on Wednesday 13 July 2022.
Please let us know if you wish to attend the meeting in person so that we can
manage numbers. We are still encouraging gall those in attendance to take a
lateral flow test before attending the meeting. PLEASE DO NOT ATTEND IF
YOU HAVE ANY COVID-19 SYMPTOMS.

5.

Chair's Report

6.

Update from Task and Finish Groups

7.

Planning Performance - Task and Finish Kick-Off (Verbal Report)

8.

Climate and Environmental Emergency Update (Pages 9 - 68)

9.

Corporate Key Performance Indicator (KPI) Review 2022/23 (Pages 69 - 82)

10.

Annual Customer Care Report (Pages 83 - 98)

11.

Cabinet Forward Plan (Pages 99 - 106)

12.

Policy and Performance Scrutiny Panel's Work Programme (Pages 107 - 108)

DATE OF NEXT MEETING
Thursday, 8 September 2022 at 6:45 pm
In the Rooms 11/12/13, Eastleigh House,
Upper Market Street, Eastleigh SO50 9YN
Your Council’s electronic news service - e-news -

2

Register your email address free with the Council and keep up to date with what’s
happening in the Borough. Simply select your topics and we will send you email updates
with news as it happens including new Council Jobs, What’s On, Recycling, Transport plus
lots more.

3

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 3
1
POLICY AND PERFORMANCE SCRUTINY PANEL
Thursday, 23 June 2022 (6:45 pm – 8:58 pm)
PRESENT:
Councillor Gomer (Chair); Councillors Duguid, Beer, Broadhurst,
Broomfield, Kinloch, Spencer and Tyson-Payne
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Asman and Dedhia
________________________________________
RESOLVED ITEMS (SUBJECT TO QUESTIONS ONLY)
249.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
There were no declarations of interest in relation to items of business on
the agenda.

250.

MINUTES
It was AGREED That the Minutes of the meeting of the Panel held on 10 March 2022
be confirmed and signed by the Chair as a correct record.

251.

PUBLIC PARTICIPATION
Councillor Parker-Jones spoke on the issue of Planning and asked the
Panel to consider what worked well and what did not work so well. She
also asked the Panel to consider a planning case study.
Joe Wright (member of the public) made a request for scrutiny of
Development Management and asked why this had not occurred
previously.

252.

CHAIR'S REPORT
The Chair welcomed new Councillors and new Vice Chair Cllr Duguid.
The Chair invited Councillors to bring forward items for the work
programme.
The Chair advised the Panel that he would like to start a Development
Management Task and Finish Group.
Cllr Broomfield was confirmed as Chair of the Task and Finish Group with
Cllrs Tyson-Payne, Beer, Gomer and Kinloch appointed to complete the
group.

5

2
The Panel agreed that the initial task for the group was to discuss, and
recommend to the next meeting, a programme of work to scrutinise the
performance of Development Management.
The Executive Head of Planning and Economy would attend the July
meeting.
RESOLVED:That the Development Management Task and Finish Group be set-up
with the membership and scope outlined above.
253.

APPOINTMENT TO THE HOUSING WORKING GROUP
The Panel considered its appointment to the Housing Working Group for
the 2022/23 municipal year.
RESOLVED:That the Panel appoint Councillor Asman to the Housing Working
Group for the 2022/23 municipal year (subject to written confirmation
as Cllr Asman was absent from the meeting).

254.

COMMUNITY SAFETY PARTNERSHIP ANNUAL REVIEW
The Panel considered the report of the Safety and Resilience Manager.
RESOLVED –
It was AGREED that the report be noted.
The Panel congratulated the Community Safety Partnership on their
success.

255.

CORPORATE PERFORMANCE REPORT
The Panel considered the report of the Corporate Leadership Board.
RESOLVED –
It was AGREED that the report be noted.

256.

PUBLIC ART STRATEGY
The Panel considered the report of the Head of Arts and Culture.
The Panel commented on the size and structure of the document and
asked that the Strategy comes back to the Panel via email before going to
Cabinet in September.

6

3
RESOLVED –
It was AGREED that the report be noted.
257.

UPDATE FROM TASK AND FINISH GROUPS

Housing Task and Finish Group
The group had met to discuss One Horton Heath, covering the letting of
contracts and eco standards.
The group had been extended to consider financial stress testing.

258.

CABINET FORWARD PLAN
The Panel considered the Forward Plan of Key Decisions.
RESOLVED:–
It was AGREED that the report be noted.

259.

POLICY AND PERFORMANCE SCRUTINY PANEL'S WORK
PROGRAMME
Panel members considered their Work Programme to July 2022.
RESOLVED:It was AGREED that the Work Programme be noted.

7

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 8
POLICY AND PERFORMANCE SCRUTINY PANEL
Thursday, 14 July 2022
CLIMATE AND ENVIRONMENT EMERGENCY UPDATE
Report of the Climate Change Manager

Recommendation(s)
It is recommended that Policy and Performance Scrutiny Panel notes:
(1)

the contents of this report and make recommendations as appropriate; and

(2)

the contents of the report ‘A Review of Carbon Emission Reduction
Opportunities for Eastleigh Borough’ (appendix 2).

Summary
This report sets out progress from November 2021 until June 2022 of the Climate and
Environment Emergency Action Plan.
It also provides a brief overview of the planned CEE Strategy and Action Plan update.

Strategic Implications
1.

On 18 July 2019, the Council unanimously declared a Climate and
Environmental Emergency. This was subsequently supported with a Climate
and Environment Emergency (CEE) Strategy and an updated Action Plan
(June 2020).

2.

The CEE action plan directly supports delivery of the Corporate Plan and the
Corporate Action Plan (2022-2023), particularly the Green Borough theme.

9

Introduction
2.

The Climate and Environmental Emergency declaration sets out the Council’s
aim to be carbon-neutral by 2025 and to help communities and businesses
across the Borough achieve carbon neutrality by 2030.

3.

This report provides an interim update on action plan progress between
November 2021 and June 2022. It also contains a brief commentary on the
CEE Strategy and Action Plan update.

Action Plan Progress

10

4.

As the impacts of Covid have reduced and staff resources have become
available, progress against the action plan has increased, particularly on
policy/strategy actions. There are still challenges with staff workloads, but
these are not as widespread as they were. Currently the Sustainability Officer
post is vacant, but internal resources have been re-deployed to cover some of
this work.

5.

Below is a summary of the progress to date in the delivery of the Action Plan.
More detail can be found in Appendix one: Climate and Environment
Emergency Action Plan Update: November 2021 – June 2022.


Carbon Offsetting: A consultancy (Anthesis) has been engaged to
forecast the Council’s emissions trajectory to 2050 and provide advice on
offsetting/insetting (carbon reduction projects within local Authority
boundary). Projecting the emissions to 2050 will enable long-term projects
such as tree planting to be accounted for. The Council’s approach to
offsetting will be set out in the revised CEE Strategy.



Ecology: Hampshire Biodiversity Information Centre (HBIC) have
completed work establishing a carbon baseline for the habitats of the
Borough. Work continues to establish an ecological baseline with ground
truthing to occur during summer 2022. The Biodiversity Strategy,
Biodiversity Action Plan and Nature Recovery Strategy will be consulted
on together as they are linked. Twenty-five wildflower sites were planted,
but due to weather conditions they have not flourished.



Economy: In February, 55 businesses attended a green business event
organised by the Council, which included a sustainability panel of local
businesses. Eighteen business have been awarded a total of £415,000 in
Additional Restrictions Grants (central government funding administered
by Local Authorities) towards sustainability measures.



Estates: Cabinet approved the funding for a large solar farm in May 2022
across two sites within the Borough: Allington Lane and Bishopstoke. The
proposal will generate enough electricity to power the equivalent of 9,500
homes. Energy audits of directly-managed buildings have been delayed
due to staff changes (now resolved). Four energy audits have been
carried out on priority buildings and the contract to audit the remaining 20
buildings will be awarded in July.
Eastleigh Borough Council



Fleet: Over 100 vehicles have been successfully running on
hydrogenated vegetable oil since September. Three electric refuse
collection vehicles and associated charging infrastructure have been
ordered. There has been a slight delay (two months) in the delivery of the
eRCVs, now expected December 2022.



Green Homes: Phase two of the ‘Green Homes Local Authority Delivery
Fund’ (LAD), has provided support to sixty-eight homes to improve the
sustainability of the properties. Fifty-eight solar PV systems were installed,
four park homes have had external wall insulation fitted and three homes
had loft insulation installed. Phase 3 of the LAD was promoted by the
Council in May and will target a further 200 homes.



Supplementary Planning Documents (SPDs): The Tree and
Development SPD was adopted in April 2022. A climate change guidance
note for developers is being prepared to highlight the essential
requirements in the local plan for sustainable building design, use of
renewables and reduction in energy demand. The guidance will include a
checklist for completion to assist in supporting the planning application.



Zero-Carbon Development: In May 2022, Cabinet approved the
development of a district heating network and private wire network for
commercial premises and electric vehicle charging at One Horton Heath
(OHH). Collectively these two systems will reduce carbon emissions by
281,989 tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent (tCO2e) over their lifetime
(50 years). Work to procure specialist consultancy advice on achieving
net-zero developments has been delayed as the preferred consultancy
was unable to deliver. An alternative has been found and will be
appointed in July. The One Horton Heath (OHH) project team is working
with AECOM to undertake a whole-lifecycle carbon assessment of the first
phase of housing.



Nitrate and Phosphate Mitigation: Further land has been acquired at
Bishopstoke. A Suitable Alternative Natural Greenspace (SANG) report
was presented to Cabinet in March which will lead to improved
biodiversity and a phosphate strategy will be presented to Cabinet in July
2022 to enable the sale of offset credits.



Internal Training: Carbon Literacy Training project was reviewed in
January and it was decided to develop an internal training package to be
delivered to all relevant staff by end of 22/23. Sustainability appraisals to
map the environmental impacts of the Council have been taking place
with managers across executive areas, which have included some climate
change/sustainability training as an interim measure.



Procurement: An initial draft of the Sustainable Procurement policy has
been prepared. A supplier survey has been drafted to understand current
supplier sustainability action and carbon reduction targets. The £10,000
allocated towards carbon impact analysis was not required as internal
data provided enough insight.

Eastleigh Borough Council

11

12



Resident engagement: The Communications Team has promoted
initiatives including investment in solar energy, HVO fuel transition, tree
planting, wildflower planting, EV charging point installation and new cycle
lanes at OHH. Engagement campaigns have included ‘Slim Your Bin’ (Oct
21 to Feb 22) with an average reduction of 7% in household waste
tonnage, an 8% increase in glass recycling and a 12% increase in food
waste recycling. A meat reduction campaign began in June.



Sustainable Transport: Public consultation on the draft Walking and
Cycling Strategy was approved by Cabinet in May 2022 and work on a
Public Transport Strategy has begun. Twenty organisations have
borrowed bikes across the Southampton City Region as part of the RIDES
cargo bike trial, with five considering purchasing Cargo bikes. Electric
vehicle charge points have been installed in Places Leisure, Channon and
Chestnut retail parks and Romsey Road car park. Delays have been
experienced due to supply chain problems in the delivery of 50kw
chargers. An initial list of sites has been drawn up for phase 2.



Trees: A Tree Strategy was adopted by Cabinet in March 2022. The tree
nursery continues to increase its stock levels (circa 20,000 trees) and over
1,000 trees were planted by staff across the Borough. The first two public
planting days were held at Itchen Valley Country Park in January 2022
with 262 members of the public attending. Work is underway to identify
and map locations on Council-owned land that would be suitable for tree
planting. Once complete, a consultant will be engaged to check the sites
and provide information on the soil type, area of planting, species mix and
potential grant sources.



Waste: Expanding the rollout of food waste collections to flats continues
to be phased in and bin store audits are currently taking place. Work has
been completed to improve garden waste collections, including bringing in
a fourth garden waste round and streamlining the hard-to-reach garden
waste round. Trade waste optimisation has not generated significant
capacity on the rounds. Options are being considered about how best to
provide a commercial food service that does not require an additional
crew/vehicle.



Working with Partners: £30,000 has been ringfenced to support the
Greening Campaign (main engagement tool). A trial has taken place with
Fair Oak and Horton Heath Parish Council who have just launched their
campaign. All Parish Councils will be invited to apply for funding in
September.

Eastleigh Borough Council

Carbon Neutral Council – 2025
6.

The most recent greenhouse gas emissions (GHGs) data the Council has is
for 2020-2021 (figure 1). The Government will release the carbon factors for
2021-2022 in July 2022 and the Council’s GHG emissions data will be
updated accordingly.

7.

Procurement is the largest area of emissions for the Council at 76% (see
figure 1), representing the embodied carbon of the goods purchased rather
than direct emissions. As such, it was identified in the strategy and action plan
that a new sustainable procurement policy would be required to aid the
delivery of the 2025 target.

8.

To develop this strategy sustainability appraisals have been taking place with
senior managers across executive areas, identifying environmental impacts
and responses. The appraisals will form the basis for a set of sustainability
standards to help guide staff to procure more sustainably. To reduce the
impact of projects a sustainability checklist is being developed and the project
initiation document reviewed to include a climate change.

Gas [PERCENTAGE]
Street Lighting
0.14%

Electricity
[PERCENTAGE]
Fuel [PERCENTAGE]
Water 0.19%
Business Travel
0.17%
Commuting
[PERCENTAGE]
Home working
[PERCENTAGE]

Procurement
[PERCENTAGE]

Gas
Electricity
Fuel
Water
Business travel
Commuting
Home working
Procurement
Street lighting

Figure 1: Eastleigh Borough Council carbon emissions 2021-2022

Eastleigh Borough Council

13

Carbon Neutral Borough - 2030
9.

The Climate Change Committee is due to release its latest report on progress
against the UK’s statutory carbon budgets on June 29, 2022. As such no
update is given in this report.

10.

The Council commissioned a report ‘A Review of Carbon Emission Reduction
Opportunities for Eastleigh Borough’ (appendix 2). The report considered how
different sources of emissions may be reduced and where the biggest areas
of impact could be (figure 2). The report concluded that theoretically, a carbon
neutral trajectory could be achieved, but it did not consider the deliverability or
cost. The information will be used to develop future actions.

Figure 2: Carbon reduction potential of actions across Eastleigh Borough

14

Eastleigh Borough Council

Strategy and Action Plan update
11.

An updated strategy and new action plan will be developed by Q3 (20222023) and brought before Policy and Performance Scrutiny panel in January
2023.

12.

The Strategy will be updated to include more recent data, for example 20172018 data was used to set baselines as the 2018-2019 data was not available
when the declaration was made. There are some minor errors to be corrected
and a section on offsetting will be added (see 14 and 15 below).

13.

The Action Plan will be re-written with completed and obsolete actions
removed. New actions will be added with costings and carbon savings (where
applicable).

14.

Anthesis have been commissioned to forecast Council emissions across all
areas to 2050 and provide advice on offsetting. This long-term trajectory will
give us a better understanding of the impact of future development such as
One Horton Heath and the role of tree planting and biodiversity improvements
in sequestering carbon.

15.

This information will be used to inform the updated Action Plan and Strategy,
which will include the Council’s approach to offsetting. Whilst action will be
taken to reduce emissions at source, it is very likely that offsetting/insetting
will have to play a significant role in reducing emissions to meet the 2025
target.

Financial Implications
16.

There are no financial implications contained within this report.

Risk Assessment
17.

There are significant risks should the Council fail to mitigate climate change
and ensure that the residents, businesses, and the natural environment are
able to adapt to the future climate.

Equality and Diversity Implications
18.

The Equality Act is relevant to the decision in this report as the decision
relates to eliminating discrimination, advancing equality of opportunity, or
fostering good relations between different people in the following ways: the
various impacts and responses to climate change are likely to
disproportionally impact on people with protected characteristics.

19.

An Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) was carried out to support the Climate
and Environmental Programme in November 2019 and this has been used to
refine the approach set out. In summary the EqIA shows that care will be
needed to ensure that actions to mitigate climate change do not lead to
discrimination and that opportunities to reduce existing inequality are
maximised.
Eastleigh Borough Council

15

20.

As the Action Plan is developed there will need to be consideration of how it
impacts protected groups to ensure that actions are compliant and where
possible reduce existing inequality. Actions linked to the review of
procurement policy and increased training will support the Council’s efforts to
eliminate Modern Slavery.

Climate Change and Environmental Implications
21.

16

The purpose of the CEE Strategy and Action Plan is to reduce the impact of
climate change on residents and the environment through reducing GHGs and
increasing carbon storage. Some of the actions focus on improving the state
of biodiversity in the borough, increasing the resilience of wildlife to climate
change and providing natural carbon stores.

Eastleigh Borough Council

Conclusion
22.
The Climate and Environmental Emergency presents significant risk to
residents and businesses. This report highlights areas of progress and
challenges that persist.
23.

The report appended ‘A Review of Carbon Emission Reduction Opportunities
for Eastleigh Borough’. The carbon baselines produced by HBIC (yet to be
reviewed) and the carbon trajectories and offsetting advice from Anthesis will
help form the evidence base for the updated CEE Strategy and Action Plan.

24.

It is recommended that Policy and Performance and Scrutiny Panel:
1. note the contents of this report and make recommendations as appropriate
2. note the contents of the report appended ‘A Review of Carbon Emission
Reduction Opportunities for Eastleigh Borough’.

ANDY BRENNAN
CLIMATE CHANGE MANAGER

Date:
Contact Officer:
Tel No:
e-mail:
Appendices Attached:

24 June 2022
Andy Brennan
andy.brennan@eastleigh.gov.uk
2

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - SECTION 100D
The following is a list of documents which disclose facts or matters on which this
report or an important part of it is based and have been relied upon to a material
extent in the preparation of this report. This list does not include any published works
or documents which would disclose exempt or confidential information.
None.

Eastleigh Borough Council

17

This page is intentionally left blank

Climate and Environmental Emergency Action Plan Update: November 2021 – June 2022
Programme
1

Ecology

Action
Carbon
Sequestration
Schemes - Work in
partnership to
develop proposals
for large scale
habitat creation
projects and secure
funding to deliver
schemes that can
sequester carbon.

Impact
Localised
carbon
offsetting,
habitat
creation and
reducing
localised
nutrient
budgeting
issues.

Target

Progress November 2021

Progress June 2022

Proposals for
schemes by
end of
2020/21.

Hampshire Biodiversity Information
Centre (HBIC) have been
commissioned to undertake
Biodiversity Net Gain assessments of
two land parcels which will have
sequestration benefits.

Baseline Survey work has been
undertaken for two land parcels.
Biodiversity net gain projects and unit
calculation is the next step, to be
completed May/early June 2022.

HBIC are establishing a carbon
baseline for the Borough, expected
early 2022.

A carbon assessment of the habitats
of the Borough is being undertaken by
HBIC covering storage and
sequestration rates and will be
completed June 2022.

Planned large-scale habitat creation
projects will be aligned with the
progress of the biodiversity strategy
(see 5) and strategic land acquisition
board.
2

Ecology

Monitoring
ecological mitigation
actions - Review
funding made
available through
planning conditions,
including ensuring
that it can allow the
commissioning of
independent
monitoring of
planning applications
as a condition of

To assess the
impact of
adopted
mitigation
measures on
biodiversity
through
independent
monitoring.

A review of
capacity was
completed
by March
2020.

Update: The Environment Act is
now law and compulsory monitoring
will take place from 2023 onwards as
part of reporting for Local Nature
Recovery Strategies.

Update: Awaiting secondary
guidance/legislation following
consultation on Biodiversity Net Gain
(BNG) in the Environment Act
(possibly July 2022).

Responsible authorities for this work
are yet to be decided but likely to be
at a county level, with input from
HBIC.

HBIC have begun liaison with
recording centres to establish what
monitoring data can be captured. It is
likely this will be provided as a service
to EBC (subject to additional cost).

19

20
approval.
3

Economy

Business Development of a
climate /
environmental
behavioural change
programme for
businesses and local
employees

Lowering
business
emissions
from the
business
sector.

Baseline
ready in Feb
2022.
Annual or
biennial
review
thereafter to
measure
progress.

Questionnaire to be sent to
businesses in November 2021 and
preliminary results shared at
business
briefing in February 2022.
Toolkit and communications package
to be prepared using results of
survey.

Green business event took place in
February which included a
sustainability panel of local
businesses. 55 productive businesses
attended, mostly manufacturers.
Preliminary results of sustainable
business survey shared. 18 of the
businesses surveyed were given a
total of £415,000 in Additional
Restrictions Grants towards
sustainability measures.
Visits to inspect these improvements
will take place in the next 6 months

4

Ecology

Establish ecological
baseline - In
partnership with key
bodies, establish an
ecological baseline
for the borough.

Enable the
Council to
measure the
impact of
activities.

by
September
2020 the
team will
have a
costed
programme
with a more
detailed
methodology
to monitor
actions.

Desk-based assessments and
ground-truthing undertaken by HBIC
during summer 2021. Some groundtruthing will need to be carried into
next survey season (2022).
Report currently being prepared and
will be finalised once above
complete.

Further ground-truthing and updating
of baseline mapping to occur summer
2022.
Mapping is progressing and the
ecological baseline will be complete
by end of financial year (22/23).

5

6

Ecology

Sustainable
Transport

Produce a
Biodiversity Strategy
and Action Plan Creation of a
comprehensive
Biodiversity strategy
and action plan
which will identify
responses to species
at risk. This will
supersede the less
broad Biodiversity
Action plan and sit
alongside the other
Climate and
Environmental sub
strategies.

Strategy and
Plan will
provide a
coherent longterm response
to
environmental
degradation.

Consultation
by end 2020.

Develop a plan to
increase take-up of
zero carbon “last
mile” sustainable
delivery services
used by local
businesses.
Increasing the
number of final
deliveries from
distribution centres
to businesses and
from businesses to
local customers that
are made by zero
emission transport.

Work with
local transport
organisation
to expand
scheme into
Eastleigh to
reduce local
fuel
consumption
and improve
air quality.

Plan to be
out for
consultation
by
September
2020.

Over-arching biodiversity strategy
has been reviewed post P&P
feedback in June (2021). Scheduled
for cabinet in December 2021 to
seek permission to undertake
consultation in early 2022.
Outline content for biodiversity
action plan/nature recovery strategy
presented to P&P in November
2021.

RIDES cargo bike trial scheme has
been launched jointly with SCC. This
project provides local businesses
opportunities to trial greener
delivery methods through the loan
of 10 e-cargo bikes (5 Urban Arrows
and 5 Tern GSDs) and 5 cargo bike
boxes.

Biodiversity Strategy and biodiversity
action plan (BAP)/nature recovery
strategy (NRS) are to be consulted on
together as they are linked.
Work on BAP/NRS is progressing with
mapping of priority areas complete.
Draft will be complete by mid-July
with consultation on both elements
following afterwards.

By the end of January 2022 (last
available data) a total of 3,206 miles
have been carried out on the cargo
bikes transporting around 16-18
tonnes of cargo.
20 Organisations have loaned the
bikes across the Southampton City
Region, 5 of which have begun to
explore the purchase of Cargo bikes.
Further work with Southampton City
Council will continue into 2022/23 to
promote the scheme and engage with
businesses in the Borough.

21

22
7

Energy and
Offsetting

Electric Vehicle
Charging - Install
further public
electric vehicle
charging points in
the borough.

Supporting
businesses
and residents
to move to
electric
vehicles will
lead to a
reduction in
local and
national
pollution.

First rapid
charger to be
installed by
October
2020.

Contractual issues remained until
August 2021. Installation has begun
and foundations and network
connections are complete. Bay
markings and commissioning of
chargers remain outstanding due to
delivery issues with charging points.
Completion expected January 2022.

The following chargers have been
installed:
PLE: 150 kW & 7kW
Channon: 7kW
Chestnut: 50kW & 7kW
Romsey: 50kW & 7kW
The installation of the 50kW chargers
has been delayed due to supply chain
issues. Awaiting confirmation of final
50kW charger at Channon.
An initial list of sites to ground truth
has been drawn up for phase 2.

8

Sustainable
Transport

Sustainable
Transport Strategy Development of a
Sustainable
Transport Strategy to
include the council’s
approach for public
transport, travel
plans, commercial
fleet, taxis, low
emission vehicles,
cycling and walking,
which will then
inform the action
plan.

To reduce fuel
consumption
and air quality
issues in the
area, through
modal shift to
more
sustainable
travel.

Cycling and
Walking
element of
the strategy
consultation
by March
2021. Overall
strategy by
September
2021.

Draft Walking and Cycling strategy
was considered at P&P in July 2021.
Further changes to the document
and an internal consultation are
underway and public consultation
will commence in early 2022.
The strategy will then be revised and
put forward for adoption by April
2022.

Public consultation on the draft
walking and cycling strategy was
approved by cabinet in May 2022.
Work on a Public Transport Strategy
has begun.

9

Housing

Supplementary
Planning Policies Developing Council
supplementary
planning documents
relating to
biodiversity and
environment net
gain, efficiency of
development sites,
climate adaptation
and strengthening
the Council’s
position on tree
replacement planting
including numbers,
species and sizes of
trees

Policies will
support
Environmental
and Climate
mitigation/
adaptation
improvements
.

First policies
by March
2021.

Tree and Development SPD
complete following minor
amendments made in response to
public consultation and presentation
to P&P in July 2021. Final version
due to Cabinet on 9 December 2021
for formal adoption.
Biodiversity SPD and Sustainable
Urban Drainage SPD presented to
P&P in November 2021.

Trees and Development SPD was
adopted along with the Local Plan in
April 2022.
Biodiversity SPD will follow adoption
of Biodiversity Strategy and action
plan once further guidance on
biodiversity net gain has been
published (expected to be produced
July 2022).
SuDS SPD is in early draft stage and
will go to cabinet at a later date
before public consultation.
Climate change guidance note for
developers is being prepared to
highlight the essential requirements in
the local plan to reduce energy
demand, use of renewable/low carbon
energy and sustainable building
design. The guidance will include a
checklist for completion to assist in
supporting the planning application

23

24
10

11

Internal
Training

Energy and
Offsetting

Staff Training Develop and deliver
a comprehensive
training programme
to support all staff
and Councillors to
embed Climate and
Environmental
considerations into
all decisions.

Improved
decision
making will
lead to
positive
impacts across
the board.

Partner - Working
with partners,
including parish,
county and
neighbouring
councils, to
encourage positive
environmental
behaviour and
organisation
engagement.

To support the
ambitions of
Eastleigh
Borough
Council.

Programme
to begin in
June 2020.

Carbon Literacy training was planned
for September but was cancelled by
the course provider.
As an interim measure in-house
training has been provided to
Executive Heads and Corporate
Project team.
£20,000 has been reallocated to
support the CEE training programme
which will commence in early 2022
(dates to be confirmed by training
provider).

Programme
to Launch in
September
2020.

The Greening Campaign (main
engagement tool) has yet to be
launched due to COVID.
Currently surveying Parish Councils
to understand levels of action and
barriers to consider best ways to
support.
Information will be used to develop
support and projects in 2022/2023.

Having reviewed the Carbon Literacy
Training in February it was decided
that an internal training session will be
developed and rolled out to relevant
staff by the end of 22/23 FY.
Sustainability appraisals including an
introduction to climate change have
been undertaken with the majority of
executive heads and senior managers
to map impacts across the
organisation.

£30,000 grant support has been
ringfenced to provide support to
parish councils to run the greening
campaign.
The first greening campaign is being
trialled with Fair Oak and Horton
Heath parish council, due to launch in
June 2022.
All parish Councils will be invited to
apply for funding in September 2022.

12

External

Resilience Assessment of
resilience to climate Carry out a Social
Justice and Climate
Change assessment
of the borough to
increase the level of
understanding of
residents’ exposure
and potential
responses to future
climate impacts.

Improved
resilience to
future climate
impacts.

Assessment
carried out
by end
March 2021,
with a more
detailed
review by
September
2021

This work was not progressed any
further. However, the assessment is
a useful tool and will be considered
along with other tools to support
staff in project planning/decision
making.

Action not taken forward

13

Comms

Behavioural Change
Programme - Launch
of a
climate/environment
al behavioural
change programme
for staff.

Support wider
Council
improvements
.

Programme
to Launch in
January
2020.

Staff-focused variations on the active
travel and waste minimisation
campaigns (see 15) shared through
internal comms channels, as well as
news stories on prominent actions
the council has taken on climate
change, such as the solar farm
purchase and tree nursery.

Staff-focused variation of waste
minimisation campaign (see 15)
shared through internal comms
channels.
Internal news stories on prominent
actions the council has taken on
climate change (see 15).
Back by Bike campaign being run
internally to coincide with increased
office working.

25

26
14

External

Communications Public Reward Working with
Southern Water to
launch a pilot of the
Green Redeem,
positive
environmental
behaviour reward
scheme

Reduction in
water
consumption,
alongside
other positive
environmental
behaviour.

Pilot area to
launch by
January
2021.

Action not taken forward due to
Southern Water re-structure.

Action not taken forward

15

Comms

Residents
engagement Launch of a climate/
environmental
behavioural change
programme for
residents with the
community
engagement.

Lowering
lifestyle
emissions
across the
borough.

Programme
to Launch in
January
2020.

Programme has included:

Programme has included

Active travel
Following the Bike Back Better
campaign the number of people who
said they cycled ‘once or twice a
week’ increased by an average of
6.6. percentage points and the
number of people who said they
cycled ‘once or twice a month’
increased by an average of 13.5
percentage points.

Waste minimisation
We ran the Slim Your Bin campaign
from Oct 21 to Feb 22. During the
campaign period there was an average
reduction of 7% in household waste
tonnage, as well as an 8% increase in
glass recycling and a 12% increase in
food waste recycling.

Green energy installation
Following the Solar Together
promotion campaign, 894
households registered for the
scheme. There were 138
acceptances of recommendation to
install.
The Green Homes Grant Local Area
Delivery scheme - phase twi (GHG
LAD) was promoted. 176
applications were received with
funding approved for 103.
Phase two of the scheme was
promoted (still ongoing), as of last
update there were 47 applications

Waste minimisation
This multichannel campaign is
ongoing and will report next year.

27

Joint clean air project Promotion of
joint wood burning prevention
campaign. Over 36K impressions
(displays) on social media to date
with over 1K engagements, plus
promotion in email and print.

Green energy installation
Phase two of the Green Homes Grant
Local Area Delivery (GHG LAD) scheme
was promoted.
209 applications received to date (68
funded).
Promotion of Phase 3 of the scheme is
ongoing. Awaiting application figures.
Meat reduction – Campaign to start
this month.
Joint clean air project
Promotion of joint wood burning
prevention campaign. 13K impressions
(displays) on social media since last
update and 80 engagements, plus
promotion in email and print.

General Climate Change PR:
Promotion of initiatives including
investment in solar energy, HVO fuel
transition, tree planting, wildflower
planting, EV charging point installation
and new cycle lanes at OHH.

28
16 Procurement Detailed appraisal of
the Council’s
procurement to
identify
opportunities to
reduce the
environmental
impact and
emissions of spend.

Council
procurement
is estimated to
equate to a
third of the
Councils
emissions.

Updated
Procurement
Policy and
guidance by
September
2020.

Training was delayed until March
and further delays ensued due to
staff changes.

An initial draft of the Sustainable
Procurement Policy has been
prepared.

£10,000 has been reallocated to
support analysis of carbon impact of
procurement,

A supplier survey has been drafted
and sustainability appraisals are being
undertaken across executive areas to
define sustainability standards for
products and services.

A working group has been formed,
sustainable buying standards
reviewed, and a project plan will be
developed.
Expected completion date December
2022.

17

Estates

Green Lease Clauses
- Development and
phasing in “Green
Clauses” (such as
requiring energy
efficiency
improvements) into
the Councils rental
leases.

Improve
environmental
performance
of buildings
throughout
whole life
cycle of
buildings by
working
collaboratively
with
occupiers/
businesses

New Clauses
to begin
introduction
by
September December
2020.

Typical green lease clauses have
been drafted to foster sustainability,
conserve energy and to consider
environmental matters. These will
be incorporated in future and
renewed leases.

The £10,000 allocate towards carbon
impact analysis was not required as
another method was used. This
money may be used to improve
monitoring of emissions through our
supplier spend.
No further update.

18

Estates

Energy - Review of
previous Solar PV
(Photovoltaic)
businesses cases,
including the
potential for
installing large scale
schemes.

Increased local
renewables
will reduce
demand for
Fossil fuel
power.

More
detailed
business
cases to be
considered
by October
2020.

Update: IVCP PV farm will not be
taken forward due to small size and
grid connection cost.

See action 39

19

Estates

Energy - Asset
Management Develop plan for
improving energy
efficiency and
sustainability for
operational
buildings.

Improve
environmental
performance
throughout
whole life
cycle of
operational
buildings

Report by
end April
2021.

Energy audits were carried out on six
buildings in December 2020 in
preparation for funding bids.
Unfortunately, none were successful
due to the scheme being
oversubscribed.

Energy audits have been delayed due
to staff changes (the Green Energy
Manager recruited in September 2021
left in December 2021).

Overall project delayed due to
challenges in recruiting a Green
Energy Manager (COVID and skills
shortage). The Green Energy
Manager started in September 2021.
To make up for lost time £150,000
has been reallocated commission
energy audits of EBC’s directly
managed buildings (currently 25).
The Green Energy Manager is
currently preparing tender
documents and audit reports
expected early/mid 2022 dependent
on consultant capacity.

A replacement Green Energy Manager
was appointed in March 2022.
Energy audits were carried out on four
priority buildings with the view to
access the Public Sector
Decarbonisation Scheme Fund (PSDS)
to convert to low carbon heating.
Two of the buildings may meet the
criteria of the fund but will require
significant investment by EBC.
The PSDS was expected to open in
April 2022, now expected October 22.
The contract to audit the other
directly managed buildings (20) will be
awarded in July.

29

30
20

Energy and
Offsetting

Energy - Green
Supply - All Council
purchases of
electricity will be
“Green” renewable
energy.

Utilising
purchasing
power to shift
the UK power
supply to
renewable
energy,
reducing GHG
emissions
nationally.

100% Green
Electricity by
April 2020.

Completed: all sites now supplied
with renewable energy.

Action completed

21

Energy and
Offsetting

Energy - Green
Supply - Investigate
the potential for the
Council to move to a
Green gas supplier.

Utilising
purchasing
power to shift
the UK power
supply to
renewable
energy,
reducing GHG
emissions
nationally.

Investigation
by April 2020

Update: There is a shortage of green
gas nationally, EBC will continue to
monitor situation and seek supply if
available.

Update: The use of green gas will be
considered as part of EBC’s approach
to offsetting, see action 22.

22

23

24

Energy and
Offsetting

Fleet and
Waste

Energy and
Offsetting

Offsetting CarbonFREE Investigate the use
of a Carbon Trust
accredited scheme
to immediately
offset the Councils
emissions. Then
develop a plan to
locally offset the
Council’s operational
and outsourced
emissions, including
from energy,
consumption and
Council development
projects

Ensure that
Council
responds to its
emissions
whilst work is
carried out to
reduce the
impact of
operations.

Waste - Develop a
waste management
plan for the Council’s
operational
properties

Waste
reduction,
recycling and
responsible
waste
management.

Review to be
completed
by March
2021 with a
full package
delivered by
the end of
2021.

Project has been placed on hold due
to office closure.

Local
offsetting
programme
will support
further
mitigation and
adaptation

By March
2021.

A single approach is being taken to
external and internal offsetting, see
action 22.

Offsetting - Relaunch
External CarbonFREE

Initial
offsetting
proposal by
November
2019, local
scheme
developed
by
September
2021.

Update: An accredited offsetting
scheme is proving a challenge as
there are only two recognised
schemes in the UK, the Woodland
Carbon Code, and the IUCN Peatland
code.
Other Councils are finding similar
challenges and work continues to
find a suitable model.

Update: A consultant has been
appointed to review current emissions
reporting, forecast forward likely
emission scenarios to 2050 and
provide advice on offsetting.
A section on offsetting will be included
in the updated CEE strategy.

An update was presented to CEE
Board in October and a further
update will be provided in January
2022.

Review will take place in Q4 of
2021/2022 with actions put in place
during Q1-Q2 in 2022/2023.

Action placed on hold due to internal
staff changes (Sustainability Officer
moved to Green Energy Manager
role).
Action will be taken forward once new
sustainability officer is recruited.
A single approach is being taken to
external and internal offsetting, see
action 22.

31

32
aims.

25

26

Pollution
Strategy

Ecology

Pollution Strategy Development of a
Pollution Strategy,
including
noise/nuisance, dust,
land and overarching
the Air Quality
Action Plan which
will be completed by
March 2020.

Reduction in
local pollution
issues.

Trees - Develop a
strategy to ensure
that there is
effective protection
of existing trees
through the use of
Tree Protection
Orders (TPO) and
effective
enforcement, tree
planting/replacemen
t programme
including
maintenance regime
for tree stock across
the Borough.

A robust tree
planting
programme
will support
habitat
creation and
offsetting.

Project
scoping by
end of
October
2020.
Publish
Strategy by
end of May
2021.

Project on hold due to staffing
resources and future environment
directorate restructure.

Strategy, SPD
and Policy
agreed by
March 2021.

Tree Strategy has been delayed due
to staff changes. New strategy
Development Senior Specialist
(Environment) will take this forward
with a paper to P&P in January 2022

Discussion with Pollution control
Team and Executive Head of
Environment has identified that this is
no longer required.
Future policy/monitoring
requirements will be reviewed as part
of the action plan update.

Some elements of the strategy have
been picked up in the Tree SPD
(action 6) including management of
existing stock and TPO trees.
Tree planting - 2 FTE`s and vehicle
deployed from January 2022 to
commence tree planting borough
wide, trees to be supplied from Tree
nursery and recorded on Ezytreev
for future maintenance
requirements and counting

Complete: Tree Strategy was adopted
by cabinet in March 2022.

purposes.

27

Fleet and
Waste

Fleet - Develop an
action plan to
transition the
Streetscene fleet to
Electric or Ultra Low
Emission Vehicles
(ULEV) by 2025.

Reduction in
operational
emissions,
improvement
in air quality
and reduction
in water
consumption

Business
case
developed
by
September
2020.

This action has been expanded to
cover whole fleet.

Electric RCVs due to be delivered in
September 2022 our now delayed
until December 2022.

Almost all of the vehicle fleet is now
running on Hydrogenated Vegetable Associated charging infrastructure on
Oil (HVO), offering a 90% CO2 saving. order.
Additional budget of £800,000 has
been approved to purchase three
electric refuse collection vehicles
(ERCVS), install charge points and
train staff. The tender process for
eRCV’s is underway with order to be
placed in December 2021.
In partnership with a specialist
consultancy, we are modelling future
fleet requirements and energy
demands and working with
suppliers, particularly looking at
vehicles < 7.5t GVW.

Vehicle fleet has been successfully
running on HVO for seven months
with no major issues.
Work with specialist consultancy to
model fleet did not take place (this
was being provided free of charge).

33

34
28

Ecology

Trees - Exploring the
development of
locally grown trees
and plant stock with
consideration of a
peat free Council
tree and plant stock
nursery.

Early planting
of trees
reducing the
cost and
carbon
footprint
importing
mature trees
to improve
coverage
across the
borough.

Investigation
completed
by June
2020.

Update: An internal group has been
formed to identify amenity and
woodland planting sites. £20,000 has
been reallocated to support this
process

Update: Tree nursery has over 20,000
saplings in stock.
1,029 trees have been planted across
the Borough in 2021/22.
The first public planting days (two)
were held at IVCP in Jan with 262
members of the public attending.
The corporate project office is now
providing project management
support and a GIS layer is being
developed to identify future planting
sites.
Once completed a consultant will be
engaged to ground truth the sites
considering soil type, species
composition, grant sources etc.

29

Ecology

Wildflowers Introduce more
wildflower areas
across the Borough,
including mixture of
ornamental and
native wildflowers
and areas which are
left with minimal
maintenance to
increase
biodiversity.

Reduction in
By end 2021
GHG emissions
and decrease
in local air
pollution.

Locations for 2022 to be agreed by
LAC’s, work programme will take
approx. 6 weeks to prepare ground
and plant. Work will need to
commence February 2022 and is
reliant on resources being available.

25 sites (five in each local area) were
planted with wildflowers, however
due to weather conditions very few
seeds have germinated.

30

31

Energy and
Offsetting

Operational
Equipment

Grey Water Investigating
potential to move to
grey water
harvesting for use in
mechanical and
compact sweepers

Grey water
usage will lead
to a significant
GHG and cost
reduction for
the Councils
streetscene
services.

Plan by
March 2021.

Handheld
Streetscene
equipment - All
handheld petrol
driven Streetscene
equipment (such as
strimmer’s) will
transition to electric,
50 separate items of
equipment by 2021.

This activity
will reduce
council vehicle
movements
and facilitate
further uptake
of food waste
across
Hampshire.

Study to be
completed
by June
2020.

It is unlikely there will be sufficient
grey water from buildings to make
this a worthwhile proposition
(volumes are too small).

Work is underway to find out if
current and future sweepers can use
rainwater.

Further investigations will be carried
out to determine the feasibility of
installing a rainwater harvesting
systems including the depot
refurbishment.
Update: Transition now complete

Action completed

35

36
32

33

Fleet and
Waste

Fleet and
Waste

Commercial Food
Waste Collections Council to assess the
potential and
develop a plan to
introduce food waste
collections for
businesses in the
Borough

Waste Strategy Develop a strategy to
reduce waste and
improve recycling
throughout the
Borough. To include
domestic and
commercial
activities.

Reduction of
waste to
incineration,
creation
of green gas
from
waste.

Waste
reduction,
recycling and
responsible
waste
management.

Plan
development
during
20/21.

By August
2020.

Trade waste collections are currently
being optimised to understand
potential available capacity. Once
this is complete, a survey of
businesses will take place to
understand demand for food waste
from local businesses. A working
group will be established to include
Business Development Specialist.
There is a need to develop a pricing
model/offer for customers and
utilise trade crews knowledge of
businesses. There is no requirement
for a change in the vehicle to
operate this service if business case
is accepted.
Update: Collection day changes
implemented that included the
rollout of fortnightly collection of
glass/batteries at the same time as
recycling collections for most
households using one vehicle. Food
waste collections rolled out to 90
housing blocks and the remainder of
the borough will be phased in.

Trade waste optimisation has not
generated significant capacity on the
rounds.
Options are being considered about
how best to provide a commercial
food service that does not require an
additional crew/vehicle.
The aim is to establish if this is feasible
this year (2022).

Update: Collection day changes
completed.
Expanding the rollout of food to flats
continues to be phased in and bin
store audits are currently taking place.
Work has been completed to improve
garden waste collections. This
included a fourth garden waste round
and streamlining the hard to reach
garden waste round. This work went
live in April 22 and the new online
garden waste system will go live to
customers from 13 June 22.

34

Fleet and
Waste

Waste - AD Eastleigh is the only
Council in Hampshire
to collect food waste
from residential
properties. Currently
waste is processed
outside of the
Borough. A business
proposal will be
developed for
building an
anaerobic digestion
facility within the
borough.

Reduction in
operational
emissions and
increased
areas for
biodiversity.

Business
case
developed
by October
2020.

This has not been progressed. The
HWP, that includes EBC is working
collaboratively to develop twin
stream collections for 2024, that
would include the building of a new
MRF and enabling transfer stations
to be able to take separate fibre and
food waste. AD capacity in Dorset,
will be able to manage demand for
food waste processing in the short to
medium term.

Portsmouth City Council are
continuing to develop a business case
for an AD plant.
HCC submitted a planning application
to build a new MRF in Chickenhall
Lane. They anticipate a decision from
the planning committee in either July
or September.
The Environment Act 2021, twin
stream collections, the possible
development of new MRF and
changes to transfer stations to include
food and glass where possible, will
require a change to waste collection
methodology in 2024.

37

38
35

36

Housing

External

Housing - activities
around zero carbon
development and
biodiversity net gain
in Eastleigh delivered
schemes.

Water Fountains –
Assessment of
locations and where
feasible installation
of public water
fountains across the
borough.

Net Zero
carbon
consideration
through
development
and
supporting
local
biodiversity

Reduction in
waste,
resilience to
heatwaves
lower
emission
water usage.

All new
Eastleigh
development
s to factor in
Zero carbon.

£30,000 has been reallocated for
consultancy support to develop
policy and set standards to achieve
Net-Zero developments.
(Procurement process complete by
Jan 2022).
Strategic Development Manager is
monitoring funding opportunities
(e.g. decarbonising heat and
buildings) following announcements
in Net Zero Strategy (19 Oct).

Business
case for
consideratio
n by August
2020.

First parcel OHH to use heat pump
and have high levels insulation,
adopting the future homes standard
of 75% energy efficiency
improvement on current building
regs.
Delayed due to COVID this
installation of water fountains will
now take place in 2022/2023.

Two consultancies were unable to
take work forward which has delayed
the project. New consultant has been
found and work will be commissioned
by end of June 2022.
Cabinet approved the OHH district
heat network and private wire
network in May.
This will reduce emissions by 281,989
tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent
over the lifetime of the two networks
compared to using gas/grid electricity.
It will also be one of the largest
developments in the country to make
use of a district heat network.
Existing internal resource (starting in
June) has been re-allocated to take
this project forward whilst the
sustainability officer post is vacant.

37

Nutrient
Budgeting

Nitrates – Scheme to
manage Nitrate
issues in the
borough.

Ecological
improvements
supporting
local
biodiversity.

Nitrate
offsetting
agreed
already
started.

Complete: 190 acres of land has
been acquired to offset nitrates
entering the Solent.

Update: Further land has been
acquired at Bishopstoke.
Phosphate strategy report on
circulation for July Cabinet which will
enable offsetting through sale of
credits.
SANG report taken to Cabinet in
March which will lead to improved
biodiversity.

38

Fly-tipping

Fly-tipping –
Reduced
environmental
pollution through a
new approach to
tackling fly-tipping.

Reduction in
local pollution
and littering.

New
procedures
in place by
March2021,
Launch Flytipping
campaign in
June 2021.

New procedure for investigating and
enforcing against fly-tipping
established.

New Fly-tipping investigation process
continues with ongoing review and
troubleshooting.

CMS has been updated to
accommodate new procedure,
relevant officer training has taken
place and will be implemented from
end of Nov 21 - with ongoing 12
month review.

Communications plan continues to be
rolled out.

Fly-Tipping strategy and
departmental SLA’s drafted and
awaiting approval.
Comms plan commenced in Sept 21.
Key initial headlines indicate a 42.7%
increase in EBC fly-tipping webpage
visits, and a 71% increase on click
through to the EA waste carrier
index to check for licenced waste

Grant funding of c£12,000 received
and spent on intervention measures,
including marketing campaigns,
signage and mobile CCTV in known hot
spots (purchased but awaiting A & R
and cabinet sign off before
implementation.
Monitoring of fly-tipping data will take
place at 6 months (September 22).

39

40
carriers (duty of care).
39

40

41

Estates

External

External

Energy - Review of
previous Solar PV
(Photovoltaic)
businesses cases,
including the
potential for
installing large scale
schemes.

Increased local
renewables
will reduce
demand for
Fossil fuel
power.

Review Council Grant Increase public
funds
awareness and
maximise
ecological and
environmental
improvements

Council supporting
delivery of Green
Homes Grant for
residents including
Local Delivery
Funding with Partner
Authorities

Energy
efficiency and
dealing with
Fuel Poverty.

More
detailed
business
cases to be
considered
by March
2021.

The Point has been identified as a
potential site for roof mounted solar
PV. Suitability of other sites that do
not currently have solar will be
considered as part of energy audits.

Review of
funding and
launch in
21/22

Review of grant fund complete.
Project on hold due to reallocation
of budget.

Larger scale solar PV farms will be
considered as part of the work of the
strategic land acquisition board.

Decision will be reviewed in April
2022 with potential launch in June
2022.

Funding
Launched

Cabinet approved the funding of a
larger solar farm (27MW peak) on
nitrate land in May 2022 at Allington
Lane.
The proposal will generate enough
electricity to power the equivalent of
9,500 homes.

£30,000 has been ringfenced to
support Parish Councils to deliver the
Greening Campaign. This is currently
being trialled with Fair Oak and
Horton Heath PC.
As part of the proposed solar farm at
Allington Lane circa £80,000 per year
has been earmarked to support a
community initiatives from the
income generated by the sale of
power.

The Green Homes Grants scheme
closed in March 2021. The scheme
was hampered by a lack of
registered installers.

Phase two of the Green Homes Grant
Local Authority Delivery Fund
completed work to improve 68
homes, with a further 19 underway.

The Green Homes Grant Local
Authority Delivery Fund provides
grants of up to £10,000 for low-

The following measure have been
installed:
 Solar PV x58

income households (less than
£30,000) with inefficient homes (D-G
energy performance certificates).
EBC joined at phase 1b and have
continued through to phase 2.
Phase 1 (number of installations):
 Solid wall insulation (26)
 air source heat Pump (28)
 park home insulation (62)
 solar PV (60)
Phase 2 - 47 applications registered,
details of measure not yet
confirmed.









cavity wall insulation x 3
high heat retention storage
heaters x 2
loft insulation x3
underfloor insulation x 4
park home under floor
insulation x 1
Park home external wall
insulation x 5
Ventilation x12

Phase three funding was released in
May which will target a further 200
homes across the Borough.

41

This page is intentionally left blank

Eastleigh Borough Council
A Review of Carbon Emission Reduction
Opportunities for Eastleigh Borough
Ver 1.4 March 2022

43

Version Control
Date
26th November 2021
4th February 2022
7th February 2022
7th February 2022
1st March

Ver. N°
1.0
1.1
1.2
1.3
1.4

Type
Draft
Final
Revised draft
Final
Final

A Review of Carbon Reduction Opportunities for Eastleigh Borough

44

Comment

Comments from
EBC incorporated
2

Table of Contents
Executive Summary............................................................................................................ 4
1.

Introduction ............................................................................................................... 5

2.

Outline of brief ........................................................................................................... 5

3.

Summary of methodology and caveat on data, estimates and calculations ................ 5

4.

Baseline & Budgets .................................................................................................... 6
4.1.

2019 dataset .................................................................................................................. 6

4.2.

Airport Emissions........................................................................................................... 7

4.3.

Lifestyle Emissions ......................................................................................................... 7

4.4.

Carbon Budgets ............................................................................................................. 8

5.

Decarbonisation of the grid (electricity).................................................................... 11

6.

Change in CO2 from new development (residential) .................................................. 11

7.

Retrofitting of existing housing stock ....................................................................... 12

8.

Adding Renewables to Existing Development ........................................................... 13

9.

Change in CO2 from new development (commercial & industrial) ............................ 14

10.

Decarbonisation of Heating .................................................................................. 14

11.

Water Consumption ............................................................................................. 15

12.

Lifestyle Emissions - Diet ....................................................................................... 16

13.

Travel & Transport ............................................................................................... 16

13.4.

Commuter Traffic ........................................................................................................ 16

13.5.

Increase / Change in Electric Cars ................................................................................ 18

13.6.

Cycling ......................................................................................................................... 18

14.

Waste ................................................................................................................... 18

15.

Renewables – Increase / Growth .......................................................................... 19

16.

Land Use Change .................................................................................................. 19

17.

Summary of Actions and their Carbon Impact ....................................................... 21

18.

Offsetting ............................................................................................................. 23

19.

Conclusions........................................................................................................... 23

Appendix 1 – Summary of Brief ........................................................................................ 24

A Review of Carbon Reduction Opportunities for Eastleigh Borough

3

45

Executive Summary
Eastleigh Borough Council (EBC) declared a Climate Change and Environmental
Emergency in 2019 and as part of that declaration a target was set of reaching
carbon neutrality for emissions for the Borough of Eastleigh by 2030. This report was
commissioned to look at the high-level opportunities to reduce carbon emissions
within the Borough and related activity that might lead to increases in carbon. A
summary of these opportunities and impacts is included in Table 7 on page 20.
From a baseline of 561.2 ktCO2e in 2019 it is estimated that by undertaking all the
proposed actions raised in the report a new baseline of 142.39 ktCO2e could be
achieved without offsetting. Within these savings there are opportunities to
“overachieve” in some areas and further reduce carbon emissions.
Overall, there are significant opportunities to reduce carbon emissions within the
Borough, however, most of these are outside of the direct control of EBC, but the
authority could have significant influence over many of them. The report does not
consider the financial or resource implications of delivering any of the reduction
opportunities.
The baseline carbon emissions used within this assessment are based upon the UK
Local Authority and Regional Carbon Dioxide Emissions Nation Statistics (2005 –
2019)1. This data set is considered to be within the influence of local authorities
however in Eastleigh this does not include aviation emissions from the local airport
or some emissions that are considered “lifestyle” emissions. These emissions have
been estimated and included within the report.
A series of carbon budgets were also created for the report looking at the reduction
of emissions from 561.2 ktCO2e to carbon neutrality by 2030. This looked at
alternative scenarios to achieve carbon neutrality and given the current position of
EBC it seems likely that the biggest savings are likely to be achieved towards 2030
given the complexity of delivery of some of the biggest areas of carbon saving.
All the calculations included within the report are based on the best available data at
the time of production. This does mean that in some areas data has had to be
manipulated or extrapolated to fit the timescales or comparative data available.
However, there are some areas where better data would help refine estimates
should this become available in the future. Similarly, the Covid-19 pandemic has
impacted on some areas e.g., travel and transport and this would benefit from being
revisited at a later date when the impacts of the pandemic are better understood.

1

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/uk-local-authority-and-regional-carbon-dioxide-emissionsnational-statistics-2005-to-2019

A Review of Carbon Reduction Opportunities for Eastleigh Borough

46

4

1. Introduction
1.1. Eastleigh Borough Council (EBC) declared a Climate Change and
Environmental Emergency in 2019. Recognising the need to reduce carbon
emissions the Council set targets for their own operations to be carbon neutral by
2025 and for the emissions of the wider Borough to be carbon neutral by 2030. This
report focusses on the latter of these two targets and looks at areas where savings
of carbon could be made as well as the impacts of growth within the Borough and
how these might lead to increases of carbon.
1.2. This is a high-level review and focusses on areas where action could be taken
and where there is sufficient current data to show what the impact of action might
have on carbon levels. It does not consider the costs or deliverability of actions or
whether or not this is something that EBC could be directly involved in delivering as
this was beyond the scope of the commission.

2. Outline of brief
2.1.

An outline of the brief is included in Appendix 1.

3. Summary of methodology and caveat on data, estimates and
calculations
3.1. Wherever possible data that has been used in this report has been obtained
from sources that have been consistently published over a period of time or are
recognised as the standard set of data for the topic or area being reviewed. Reliable
sources of data such as central or local government, The Office for National
Statistics or recognised industry or trade bodies have been utilised as well as peer
reviewed academic publications.
3.2. It has been necessary to manipulate this data during calculations and cross
reference it against other data sources and conversion factors for arriving at final
figures. This process can introduce errors into calculations through rounding or
having to convert one set of data so that it is compatible with another for calculation.
Where amendments have been made, checks have been carried out to ensure that
errors are minimised, but it should be noted that all figures are estimates and that
more detailed work may be required if action is proposed in a particular area.
3.3. As this report also deals with a forward look (to 2030) some of the data and
analysis is based on estimates e.g., population growth and similarly should be
treated with caution. Patterns of behaviour have changed because of the Covid-19
pandemic which is still ongoing and as such may not have returned to pre-pandemic
levels or what might now be regarded as the “new normal” e.g., commuting habits.
3.4. Due to the complex nature of calculating carbon emissions and reduction
opportunities and due to such calculations often using estimates and averages it
should be noted that at the level of this report not all calculations are definitive and
that in some cases there are gaps in data as well as opportunities for overlapping
data and double counting. Wherever possible and where it is known to exist this has
been highlighted throughout the report.
A Review of Carbon Reduction Opportunities for Eastleigh Borough

5

47

3.5. The structure of this report deals with an action and calculates carbon
changes as a result. However, actions will take time to deliver and therefore full CO2
savings will not necessarily be realised immediately.

4. Baseline & Budgets
4.1.

2019 dataset

4.1.1. As the basis for all calculations in this report the UK Local Authority and
Regional Carbon Dioxide Emissions Nation Statistics (2005 – 2019)2 have been
used. This data set was selected as it holds historic data and will contuse to be
updated in the future which is useful for long term monitoring. This data set shows
that in 2019 the total emissions for the Eastleigh Borough area were 561.1 ktCO2e3,
a breakdown by sector is included below. Full details and technical explanations can
be found on the relevant government webpage4.
Sector
Industry
Commercial
Public Sector
Domestic
Transport
Land Use & Land
Use Change
Total

ktCO2e
54.2
51
15
171
272.6
-2.7
561.1

4.1.2. This data is collected on an annual basis and is a part of the UK’s
Greenhouse Gas Inventory which is reported each year to the United Nations
Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC) and the European Monitoring
Mechanism Regulation (MMR) and is used to assess compliance with the UK’s
emissions reduction targets (domestic and international).
4.1.3. A common and consistent methodology is used to compile the data and this is
the most comprehensive data set available, however there are some areas that it
does not include e.g., aviation, and lifestyle emissions. Whilst the Councils carbon
baseline5 for the Borough does include these emissions there is potential for double
counting with the areas above and it is unclear if lifestyle emissions data sets will be
updated. Not including these sources in this report does not exclude the Council
from continuing to take account of them. These are discussed in more detail below.
2
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/uk-local-authority-and-regional-carbon-dioxide-emissionsnational-statistics-2005-to-2019
3
Throughout the report figures have been included as kilo tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent
(ktCO2e) this therefore includes other greenhouse gases but they have been converted to the
equivalent amount of carbon dioxide.
4
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/uk-local-authority-and-regional-carbon-dioxide-emissionsnational-statistics-2005-to-2019
5
https://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/media/6355/climate-change-and-environmental-emergency-strategy2020-2030.pdf

A Review of Carbon Reduction Opportunities for Eastleigh Borough

48

6

4.2.

Airport Emissions

4.2.1. In 2019 Southampton Airport reported6 that its carbon emissions were 22.2
ktCO2e. Of this a proportion would be included in the national data set above, but
aircraft movements are not. Of the 22.2 ktCO2e above, aircraft movement7 related to
11.6 ktCO2e.
4.2.2. As part of their recent planning application and accompanying environmental
statement Southampton Airport estimated that in 2021 its carbon emissions relating
to aircraft movement would be 22 ktCO2e, with the proposed development to
increase the runway length this would rise to 54 ktCO2e by 2036. As above this
includes aircrafts take-off and landing cycle but not their climb, cruise, and descent
(a further 402 ktCO2e) as the bulk of this is outside of the Borough area.
4.2.3. For the purpose of setting a baseline the airports emissions have been
excluded at this time within the calculations made in this report, however they are
noted here for reference.

4.3.

Lifestyle Emissions

4.3.1. Lifestyle emissions are those that are created by the way individuals live their
lives and the choices that they make around a number of areas e.g., consumption of
goods and services, transport, diet, etc. These choices can all lead to emissions.
Some of these emissions are captured in the national emissions calculation of
561.1 ktCO2e but as parts relate to the consumption of goods and services that
might have been provided or produced outside of the Borough of Eastleigh, they
would not be captured in that figure.
4.3.2. There are differing models for calculating emissions arising in this way, and
they can give very different outcomes. For example, the Emissions Database for
Global Atmospheric Research (EDGAR)8 estimates that for the average person in
the UK emissions are 5.5 tCO2e pa. Whereas the Centre for Sustainable Energy
(CSE) and University of Exeter’s Impact Tool (Community Carbon Calculator)9
estimates that the average carbon emissions per household in England range
between 13.13 and 13.74 ktCO2e.
4.3.3. There are advantages and disadvantages to both tools, in particular the CSE
tool can give a much narrower focus down to the Borough or even parish level, but it
is on a household and not an individual level. In both cases the calculations include
energy consumption, which is already included in the national data set and so should
be removed before any calculations at a Borough level are undertaken.

6

Ricardo Energy & Environment – Southampton Airport Carbon Footprint 2019
Take off and landing cycle only, does not include climb, cruise and descend as in the main this will
happen outside of the borough
8
https://edgar.jrc.ec.europa.eu/country_profile/GBR
9
https://impact-tool.org.uk/
7

A Review of Carbon Reduction Opportunities for Eastleigh Borough

7

49

4.3.4. Undertaking this calculation for 2019 gives the results in Table 1 and therefore
lifestyle emissions in the Borough of between 367 and 777 ktCO2e depending on the
methodology used. For forecasting estimates for 2030 are also given based on
population forecasts and predicted housing growth, these estimates assume that all
other parameters remain the same i.e., no change in behaviour or lifestyle.
Table 1 Lifestyle Emissions for Eastleigh Borough Utilising Differing Methodologies

2019
133,584

2030
156,945

Lifestyle
Emissions
ktpa CO2e

367.36

431.6

Dwellings

58900

66,934

Consumption
Model

Lifestyle
Emissions
ktpa CO2e

776.89

882.86

Territorial
Model

Lifestyle
Emissions
ktpa CO2e

619.04

703.48

Population
Emissions Database
for Global
Atmospheric
Research (EDGAR)
Method

Centre for Sustainable
Energy Impact Tool
Method

Population
Model

4.3.5. As with the airport-based emissions above, lifestyle emissions are similarly
noted here but not specifically added to the baseline. A small section of the later
report does cover dietary changes and the potential impact on lifestyle emissions,
and some areas e.g., transport also pickup on personal choices, but any reductions
from those choices are covered in the transport or other relevant section.

4.4.

Carbon Budgets

4.4.1. To understand how a reduction from the current emissions of 561 ktCO2e to
zero might happen, it should be noted that in simple linear terms this would require
an annual net-reduction in emissions of 51 ktCO2e per year to 2030 from 2019.
4.4.2. Realistically given that it is now 2022 and the nationally published data always
lags by around 2 to 3 years, a reduction budget that is tail end waited might be more
appropriate. This does risk moving the bulk of reductions towards 2030, but it
acknowledges that some actions will take longer to deliver upon e.g., domestic
retrofit.

A Review of Carbon Reduction Opportunities for Eastleigh Borough

50

8

4.4.3. Three alternative budget scenarios have been plotted to illustrate what this
might look like. They have taken the route of a:
•
•

linear decline (a reduction of the same amount each year)
mid-weighted (a reduction that focuses the bulk of reductions in the middle of the
period)
Tail-weighted (a reduction that focuses the bulk of reductions towards the end of
the period)

•

Table 2 Plot of Alternate Carbon Budgets For Eastleigh Borough

4.4.4. A previous set of budget calculations carried out by the Tyndal Centre and
The University of Manchester looked at what the UN Paris Agreement on Climate
Change would mean for carbon budgets for all local authorities across the UK10. This
was undertaken to the period 2100 and assumed that there would be a small
residual carbon budget.
4.4.5. Whilst undertaking the carbon budget work for this report the Tyndal Centre
report for Eastleigh was used for comparison. Based on Eastleigh’s 2030 carbon
neutral target there is good correlation between the two sets of carbon budgets, and
were Eastleigh to hit their 2030 target without offsetting they would be ahead of the
Tyndal set of budgets. Table 3 below shows an overall comparison of the different
budgets above compared to the Tyndal centre. The “merged tail weighted” is the
sum of the tail weighted budgets for the corresponding periods of the Tyndal
budgets.

10

https://carbonbudget.manchester.ac.uk/reports/

A Review of Carbon Reduction Opportunities for Eastleigh Borough

9

51

2019
2020
2021
2022
2023
2024
2025
2026
2027
2028
2029
2030
2031
2032
2033
2034
2035
2036
2037

Linear
Decline
561
512
464
415
366
317
269
220
171
122
74
25
0

Midweighted
561
550
520
490
450
400
300
200
150
100
50
25

ktCO2e
TailMerged tail
weighted
weighted
561
550
2,181
540
530
520
500
450
2,220
400
350
250
100
30
380

Tyndal

2,500

1,300

600

100

Total

4,78111

4,500

Table 3 Comparison Between Eastleigh Carbon Budget and Tyndal Centre Alternatives

11

The disparity between the totals of the EBC carbon budget and the Tyndal Centre alternative is due
to a differing data sets used as a baseline one from 2018 and the other from 2019.

A Review of Carbon Reduction Opportunities for Eastleigh Borough

52

10

5. Decarbonisation of the grid (electricity)
5.1. Year on year the carbon content of grid electricity is reducing. This is because
the sources used to generate the energy that is delivered to our homes and
businesses are increasingly coming from renewable or non-carbon intensive
sources. So greater proportions of for example wind, solar or nuclear generation and
less coal and gas-powered generation means that the overall carbon content is
falling. Obviously, the exact proportion can vary considerably at any one time, but
the yearly average is predicted to drop over the coming years12.
5.2. At 2019 levels 109.5 ktCO2e13 are produced from the consumption of
electricity from the grid within the Borough of Eastleigh. Assuming no change in
consumption this would reduce to 26.52 ktCO2e by 2030 due to decarbonisation of
grid electricity.

Reduction in Emissions from Grid
Decarbonisation - All sources
(ktCO2)
120
100

ktCO2

80
60
40
20
0
2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029 2030

Year
Table 4 Grid Decarbonisation14

5.3. However, this scenario assumes that there is no growth e.g., new homes or
other demands which would increase the overall demand for electricity. Other
sections of this report consider this in more detail, alongside the factor of
decarbonisation within the relative growth or change.

6. Change in CO2 from new development (residential)
6.1. New residential development will cause a rise in carbon emissions from gas
and electricity usage, known as operational carbon. Whilst this can be reduced by
planning policy considerations, changes to building regulations, the introduction of

12

Recent announcements have suggested that by 2035 grid electricity will be net-zero carbon.
However, this report has only used the currently published figures, which do not show this to be the
case and at the time of writing there was no clear policy as to how this would be achieved.
13
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/uk-local-authority-and-regional-carbon-dioxide-emissionsnational-statistics-2005-to-2019
14
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/valuation-of-energy-use-and-greenhouse-gasemissions-for-appraisal

A Review of Carbon Reduction Opportunities for Eastleigh Borough

11

53

the Future Homes Standard and removal of gas boilers in new homes from 2025,
there will still be an increase in emissions from this growth.
6.2. Between 2019 and 2030 it is predicted15 that 9,196 new homes will be built
within the Borough of Eastleigh. This will result in an increase of 11.4 ktCO2e, in
operational carbon emissions. However, accounting for the shift away from gas
boilers in 2025 and decarbonisation of grid electricity the carbon emissions from all
housing will fall by 34.2 ktCO2e, against 2019 levels. Ultimately this means that the
overall net increase for all housing will be just 2.07 ktCO2e (based upon average
consumption rates). This is illustrated in Table 5.

Table 5 Change in Fuel Consumption and the Impact of New Residential Development

6.3. Changes to building regulations e.g., Part L 2021 and the Future Homes
Standard will drive a slight decrease to this based on improving levels of insulation,
reducing space heating demand and other improvements. This will equate to a
decrease of approximately 3.75 ktCO2e by 2030.
6.4. Policies in the Eastleigh Borough Local Plan (2011 – 2029) which seek to
further reduce carbon emissions in new development will also reduce emissions by a
further 0.56 ktCO2e.

7. Retrofitting of existing housing stock
7.1. A review of the Energy Performance Certificate (EPC) database for Eastleigh
Borough shows that as of the end of 2019 there are 57.13% of properties in the
Borough that have a valid EPC (one that has been conducted in the last ten years).
15

Figures from Eastleigh Borough Council Planning Department

A Review of Carbon Reduction Opportunities for Eastleigh Borough

54

12

7.2. Each EPC, in addition to giving an existing rating for the property, also gives a
potential rating that could be achieved undertaking different actions to the property
such as by improving insulation levels. In addition to improving the EPC rating, this
would also have a potential carbon reduction implication.
7.3. By analysing the EPC data and assuming that it is a representative sample of
EPC data for all domestic property within the Borough it is possible to estimate the
potential carbon saving that could be achieved by scaling this up to include all
existing properties in the Borough. The original brief for this work undertook to look
at this based on lifting all properties to a minimum EPC level C, however when
reviewing the data, it also became apparent that there were additional carbon
savings by lifting all properties to their maximum potential EPC band. Savings of
67.65 ktCO2e can potentially be achieved by lifting all properties to a minimum of
EPC level C, or 90.94 ktCO2e by lifting all properties to their maximum potential.
7.4. EBC have recently commissioned some more detailed analysis16, including
cost estimates to look at the potential for retrofitting properties in the Borough to
meet the carbon neutral target. That report contains a more detailed analysis of the
overall potential for retrofitting within the Borough.

8. Adding Renewables to Existing Development
8.1. The opportunity to add some form of renewable generation to existing
dwellings is a further possibility to lower the carbon emitted from energy use. This
could be part of improvements connected with improving the level of EPCs or a
separate activity. Therefore, there is some opportunity for double counting of savings
across both these actions.
8.2. Establishing the detail of the size and scale of the deployment of renewables
in this way is beyond the scope of this report. However, with some estimations the
order of magnitude can be expressed.
8.3. For example, to install solar pv on the roofs of homes within the Borough
could generate a significant amount of energy and therefore carbon savings. Not all
homes would be suitable, and some will already have solar pv installed. As an
estimate of the approximate 58,900 dwellings only 75% are suitable.
8.4. Installing a basic 4kwp solar pv array (a typical size for most domestic
homes), would generate around 3,400 kwh/year for each array. This would result in a
cumulative carbon saving of nearly 32 ktCO2e/year.
8.5. It should be noted that this carbon saving might be derived by exporting
energy to the grid rather than actual usage within the properties where PV is
installed. The addition of battery storage alongside the installation of PV would give a
greater opportunity for this carbon saving to be achieved within Eastleigh by allowing
for stored electricity to be used when needed and not only when the sun is shining.

16

Eastleigh Pathways Report: Parity Projects (January 2022)

A Review of Carbon Reduction Opportunities for Eastleigh Borough

13

55

9. Change in CO2 from new development (commercial &
industrial)
9.1. In addition to the growth of residential development, there is also a predicted
increase in commercial and industrial development of around 73,000m2, and a
reduction in existing commercial and industrial space to other uses of around
36,000m2, by 203017. It is anticipated that the split of this new development will be
approximately 50:50 between commercial offices and warehousing.
9.2. Utilising the Building Research Establishment’s energy use statistics18 it is
possible to estimate the energy consumption of this change in development and
therefore potential carbon emissions.
9.3. Considering the above changes this results in a net increase of 7.09
ktCO2e/year. Although this assumes that all the development occurs simultaneously
when in reality it will be spread across the period to 2030.

10. Decarbonisation of Heating
10.1. The Government’s Heat and Buildings Strategy (2021)19, outlines the steps it
is proposing to take to decarbonise heat in buildings to meet its net-zero target by
2050.
10.2. Most of the heat in buildings is provided by burning gas and there are two
options to decarbonise this. Firstly, moving heating to electric sources, e.g., heat
pumps; the second is to utilise hydrogen as a source rather than gas.
10.3. The Governments plan is to be replacing 1.7 million gas boilers with heat
pumps per year by the mid-2030’s20. This requires a massive upskilling of installers
and ramping up of production to achieve this.
10.4. To make this change effective it is also important to ensure that a “fabric-first”
approach is taken to buildings where changes to heating are proposed. This is to
ensure that homes are properly insulated and therefore reduce overall heat demand
before changing the heating system. As demonstrated above, improving building
fabric can have a far greater effect than simply decarbonising power or heat alone.
Improving energy efficiency has the effect of requiring less heat or power and is
therefore a fundamental first step in reducing carbon emissions.
10.5. At existing levels of consumption i.e., without prior retrofit a shift from gas
powered to electric21 heating would reduce domestic emissions by an estimated
86.93 ktCO2e by 2030. Obviously, a fabric first approach would reduce demand in

17

Information from Eastleigh Borough Council Planning Department
BRE (2000) Carbon Emissions From Non-Domestic Buildings 2000 and Beyond
19
HM Government (2021) Heat and Buildings Strategy
20
HM Government (2021) Heat and Buildings Strategy based upon Building Services Research and
Information Association (BSRIA) Heat Pumps Market Analysis (note: this document is pay per view
and was not directly inspected in preparing this report).
18

21

Including allowances for grid decarbonisation

A Review of Carbon Reduction Opportunities for Eastleigh Borough

56

14

the first instance and reduce this amount further it would also make a greater
revenue saving to the consumer than simple decarbonisation of heating alone.
10.6. To extrapolate this calculation across the other sectors (public, commercial,
and industrial) the total would rise to 108.19 ktCO2e. However, for other sectors it is
not known how much of the gas consumption is process based e.g., in
manufacturing of goods and how much is related to space heating alone. Therefore,
this latter figure should be viewed with some caution.

11. Water Consumption
11.1. Water supplied from the mains supply undergoes treatment and other
processes to get it to our taps. This involves the use of energy, which in turn means
that there are carbon emissions as a result, and this is captured in the commercial /
industrial elements of the Borough emissions.
11.2. The water industry22 has targeted reaching net-zero emissions by 2030, this
includes many actions including the reduction of emissions through reducing water
consumption and they anticipate that some offsetting will also be required to.
11.3. The Environment Agency23 estimates that the cost of; supply – use –
disposal; of water in the home is 6.97tCO2e/ML. Current estimates are that the
average person uses 140 litres of water per day, for a population the size of
Eastleigh’s this is equivalent to 48 ktCO2e pa. At this same rate of consumption with
predicted population growth by 2030 this will rise to 56 ktCO2e pa.
11.4. Reducing water consumption will obviously have an impact on these
numbers. Reducing consumption to an average of 110 litres/person/day would
reduce emissions in 2030 to 43.92 ktCO2e pa. Reducing it even further to 90
litres/person/day would reduce emissions in 2030 to 35.93 ktCO2e pa.
11.5. Further reductions are also possible by decarbonisation of the energy supply
used in the supply – use – disposal cycle. Broad estimates are that this could reduce
the emissions to around 14 ktCO2e pa at 140 litres/person/day and
10.71 ktCO2e pa (110 litres/person/day), 8.76 ktCO2e pa (90 litres/person/day)
respectively if the emissions fell to 1.7tCO2e/ML.
11.6. Further reductions are possible with respect to water used in manufacturing or
other commercial or industrial processes by increasing water efficiency or looking at
alternatives to the use of water e.g., where it is used as a coolant or other nonpotable resource or utilising rainwater harvesting or grey water recycling. Given the
wide variety and to a large extent unknown uses / processes it has not been possible
to quantify this for the purposes of this analysis.

22

https://www.water.org.uk/routemap2030/
Environment Agency Greenhouse gas emissions of water supply and demand management options
Science Report – SC070010
23

A Review of Carbon Reduction Opportunities for Eastleigh Borough

15

57

12. Lifestyle Emissions - Diet
12.1. As mentioned earlier in this report lifestyles also have an impact on carbon
emissions. Due to the overlap of where these emissions might originate it has been
calculated separately for the purposes of the baseline estimates. Some elements
such as choosing to use public transport over a private car or water use are indirectly
calculated as a lifestyle factor, but in their own relevant section.
12.2. Another area that can also have an impact on carbon emissions is diet choice.
A diet containing a lot of meat has a higher carbon footprint as opposed to one that
is lower in meat or vegetarian or vegan which are lower in their carbon value and can
reduce an individual’s carbon emissions.
12.3. To illustrate this if everyone in Eastleigh was eating an average diet that
contained some meat this would mean that collectively the emissions from diet alone
would equate to 1,922 ktCO2e. If this were a vegetarian diet this would fall to 1,300
ktCO2e, and for a vegan diet to 986 ktCO2e. With predicted population growth these
numbers would rise to 2,258, 1,528 & 1,159 ktCO2e respectively by 2030. Obviously,
a significant proportion of this would relate to emissions originating outside of the
boundary of Eastleigh Borough.
12.4. At the Eastleigh population size in 2019 if everyone went vegetarian one day
per week it would save around 89 ktCO2e per year.

13. Travel & Transport
13.1. There is a significant amount of data concerning travel and transport.
However very little of this deals purely with carbon emissions, beyond total emission
figures, or even the number of users of different types of transport. Given the
complexity of different road users, vehicles, types of transport it has not been
possible to comprehensively break this down to meaningful measurements. Where
better data is available this is included below.
13.2. In addition, the impacts of Covid-19 are also not yet fully understood in terms
of the changes to longer-term home / remote working and changes to travel patterns,
particularly with a shift away from public transport and other factors for example
during 2020 new car sales fell 29% but electric vehicle sales were up by 184%24.
13.3. It is possible to look at some areas in more detail and these are covered
below, but some of the data is quite old and may not be representative of the current
situation. Where this is the case, it is noted in the report.

13.4. Commuter Traffic
13.4.1.
Data from the 2011 census is the most recent available that offers a
comprehensive look at Eastleigh residents travel to and from work. It should be
noted that data from the 2021 census should be available during 2022, but it is
possible that this data might be skewed due to the impact of Covid-19 and changes
to commuting and greater home working.

24

OBR Fiscal Risks Report and SMMT Sustainability Report 2020

A Review of Carbon Reduction Opportunities for Eastleigh Borough

58

16

13.4.2.
The data shows that for commuting journeys both within and beyond
the Borough the most frequently used is by car, with walking the second highest
choice.
Car
Car
Motorbike
(driver) (passenger)

Train
/
Tube

Bus

Taxi /
Other

Bicycle

Foot

3%

9%

75%

5%

1%

4%

2%

1%

5%

19%

64%25

6%

1%

1%

3%

0.2%

Beyond
Eastleigh
Borough
Within
Eastleigh
Borough

Table 6 Percentage Splits of Commuter Journeys by Mode of Transport

13.4.3.
For commuters travelling around 5 miles (10 miles roundtrip) by car,
swapping to cycling or walking 1 day each week could save around 160 kgCO2e per
person a year travelling to work within Eastleigh this would equate to 2.08 ktCO2e.
13.4.4.
Data from public transport that is directly publicly available is held at a
regional or county level and therefore there is limited value in its analysis at the level
of Eastleigh Borough. However, it does highlight the impact of Covid-19 on travel via
public transport. For example, data26 for South Western Railway (the major local
train operating company) shows a significant decline in both passenger numbers and
length of journeys during the pandemic and that has yet to recover – the table below
shows this.
Time Period
Quarter 1 2019 / 20
Quarter 1 2020 / 21
Quarter 1 2021 / 22

Rail Passenger
Journeys (millions)
52.5
3.4
20.4

Table 7 Change of Rail Passenger Journeys Over Covid Pandemic Period

13.4.5.
It is therefore difficult to extrapolate from available data just how much
longer-term changes to commuting and travel behaviours have been affected by the
pandemic and consequently emissions from these sources.
13.4.6.
Obviously, a reduction in commuter travel will potentially have a
corresponding reduction in emissions, however if this is a change in mode of
transport or a switch to home working this could have a corresponding increase in
emissions in other areas. At this time, it is difficult to see exactly what the medium to
longer term picture will look like and therefore predict consequent changes in
emissions patterns.

25
26

64% equates to 13,003 commuters, but it is not known the precise length of their journeys.
Office of Road and Rail

A Review of Carbon Reduction Opportunities for Eastleigh Borough

17

59

13.5. Increase / Change in Electric Cars
13.5.1.
Government has previously announced that the sale of new fossil fuel
powered cars and vans will end by 2030. By this time the motor vehicle industry
anticipates that electric cars will reach a price parity with their fossil fuel powered
equivalents.
13.5.2.
In 2019, there were approximately 756,000 cars in Eastleigh27, of these
0.03% were electric. By mid 2021 this has risen to approximately 760,000 cars, of
these pure electric vehicles make up 0.06%. Since 2016 the number of electric
vehicles has been increasing by around 0.01% per annum.
13.5.3.
By 2025 the Office for Budget Responsibility28 predicts that pure
electric vehicles will make up around 4% of cars nationally. At the current rate of
increase Eastleigh will be unlikely to reach this figure in the same time frame.
13.5.4.
If the average vehicle travels 12,000 miles in a year and were the 4%
mark to be achieved in terms of the proportion of electric cars of the whole, then a
saving in the region of 29 ktCO2e might be expected compared to 2019 figures. This
includes a calculation to cover the overall increase in car numbers.

13.6. Cycling
13.6.1.
There is limited empirical data on cycling., The recent Southampton
City Region Bike Life Report (2019)29 –included a proportion of Eastleigh Borough.
– The survey showed a high proportion of people who would like to cycle more but
feel limited to do so due to lack of provision or concerns over safety.
13.6.2.
Working to address these concerns could take a significant number of
cars off the road and therefore reduce emissions. Currently the report estimates that
17,000 cars are taken off the road due to existing levels of cycling. If these vehicles
were permanently removed from the road, it could reduce emissions by
62.9ktCO2epa30.

14. Waste
14.1. Emissions from waste collection / disposal are not included in the UK Local
Authority and Regional Carbon Dioxide Emissions National Statistics however they
were requested as a data set for analysis in this report.
14.2. In 2019 Eastleigh Borough Council collected 39,295 tonnes of household
waste. This equates to 1.49 ktCO2e. With predicted housing growth and no change
in waste (by volume) produced per household or treatment method, emissions would
rise to 1.69 ktCO2e by 2030.
14.3. A 20% reduction (by volume) of waste collected would reduce emissions to
1.35 ktCO2e by 2030, this includes an allowance for predicted housing growth. Over
the 2019 baseline this represents a reduction in emissions of 0.14 ktCO2e. Other
27

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/all-vehicles-veh01
OBR Fiscal Risks Report and SMMT Sustainability Report 2020
29
SUSTRANS: https://www.sustrans.org.uk/bike-life/bike-life-southampton-city-region
30
Average sized petrol car undertaking 12,000 miles pa.
28

A Review of Carbon Reduction Opportunities for Eastleigh Borough

60

18

options such as changing treatment methods have not been investigated for this
report.
14.4. Waste data from Household Waste Recycling Centres (HWRCs) in the
Borough has been gathered. In 2019 27,453 tonnes of waste of varying types
passed through the HWRCs in the borough. This equates to emissions of
approximately 0.5 ktCO2e. It should be noted that for this analysis assessment of
disposal route was not possible for all waste types. There was a decrease in 2020 to
19,016 tonnes of waste – 0.48 ktCO2e but this is most likely due to the Covid-19
pandemic during which sites were shut for a period of time and running under a more
restricted regime at other points during the year. In 2021 the tonnage increased
slightly to 21,425 tonnes of waste and emissions increased to 0.53 ktCO2e. This is
due to volumes of some types of waste, which have a greater emissions factor rising
more than others.
14.5. In 2019, 20,853 tonnes of commercial waste was collected in Eastleigh
Borough. This equates to approximately 0.36 ktCO2e. There is not a similar
comparable predictor of change for commercial waste at this time therefore it has not
been possible to predict how emission from commercial waste may change in the
future.

15. Renewables – Increase / Growth
15.1. Installing roof-top solar pv on domestic properties has been looked at above.
It might also be possible to apply the same approach to commercial properties, but
this has not been examined in detail.
15.2. A second alternative would be the installation of ground mounted solar pv – a
solar farm, or in other ways such as raised coverings over open car parks or similar.
It is understood that Eastleigh Borough Council has already looked at this for one of
its country park sites.
15.3. There are several constraints which would govern whether the deployment of
a solar farm is possible. The most significant of these being available space and grid
connectivity (or a suitable customer who could utilise the energy produced directly
via a private wire arrangement). Currently grid connectivity appears to be favourable
but this could change in the future, or be subject to future grid reinforcement that has
not yet been completed.
15.4. The Solar Trade Association31 state that in general terms a 5MW solar farm
would require around 10 hectares of space but would save around 2,150tCO2e per
year (depending on irradiance and other factors). Therefore building 10, 5MW or one
large 50MW solar farm could save in the region of 21.5ktCO2e a year.

16. Land Use Change
16.1. When land use changes from one type to another this can become a net
contributor to, or a net sequester of carbon. For example, globally deforestation has
been, and continues to be a significant contributor to carbon emissions, and a loss of
a future carbon sink, in the 1990’s it was estimated that deforestation contributed 1.6
31

www.solar-trade.org.uk

A Review of Carbon Reduction Opportunities for Eastleigh Borough

19

61

Gt/pa of carbon. Planting woodland on the other hand will become a net sequester of
carbon over time.
16.2. In Eastleigh land use is a net sequester of carbon, see table 8. By changing
land use to types that are a net sequester of carbon, it is possible to offset other
emissions within the Borough.
Table 8 Summary of carbon emissions from land use (ktCO2e). Figures prefaced with a '-' symbol indicate that
this is a net carbon sink.

Net
Emissions:
Forest land

Net
Emissions:
Cropland

Net
Emissions:
Grassland

Net
Emissions:
Wetlands

-8.2

4.3

-1.5

0.0

Net
Emissions:
Settlements
2.7

Net
Emissions:
Harvested
Wood
Products
0.0

16.3. To understand the potential for reducing carbon in this way it is important to
understand that there are several factors at play. Firstly, the scale of the land that
can be utilised to sequester carbon. Secondly what it is going to be used for e.g.,
woodland or grassland, as the carbon absorption varies considerably between
vegetation type. Thirdly what it’s previous use was; for example, converting
grassland to woodland would increase carbon savings, but the net gain would be
smaller as although woodland is a greater absorber, you must also consider the loss
of the grassland. Next whether the land concerned is being used for another
beneficial purpose e.g., the growing of food. Whilst food production might be a net
contributor to carbon emissions depending on exactly what is being grown or
produced, sacrificing land used for food production might not be the most
appropriate course of action. For example, if you wanted to grow more food locally
and save carbon on “food miles” retaining land for growing might be a more
appropriate course of action than converting agricultural land to grassland or
woodland for sequestration.
16.4. Calculating the amount of carbon saved can also be an imprecise set of
numbers. There are degrees of savings depending on type of species planted, how it
is managed and the stage of its life cycle, e.g., a fast-growing species of tree will be
sequestering more carbon during its growth phase than a mature tree will be,
however over the life cycle of a commercial rotation of forest there are other
operations e.g., thinning, harvesting etc. that mean the average is much lower.
Broadmeadow and Matthews (2003)32, quote a figure of 3 tC/ha/year being
sequestered as a realistic average in this respect33.
16.5. Planting a hectare of suitable trees in Eastleigh Borough per year from 2022,
would result in a potential net sequestration of 0.27 ktCO2e by 2030. The likelihood
is that the actual saving will be less given that this is based on the average over time
32

Mark Broadmeadow and Robert Matthews (2003), Forests, Carbon and Climate Change: the UK
Contribution.
33
More recent but as yet non-peer reviewed work by Forest Research suggests this figure might be
closer to 5tC/ha/year in the UK

A Review of Carbon Reduction Opportunities for Eastleigh Borough

62

20

and these new plantings would be absorbing less CO2 in the early part of their
growing lifecycle. In terms of reducing carbon this is not a short-term solution but
does offer greater opportunity in the longer term and should not be overlooked.
16.6. This also assumes that there is suitable space and does not specifically factor
in any changes to land-use where there might also be a net loss or gain of carbon
based on the land’s previous use.
16.7. Eastleigh Borough Council has also announced that it will plant 160,000 trees
by 2030. As mentioned above in the short-term carbon savings from such a
programme would be relatively small. The Council could utilise the Woodland
Carbon Code34 to manage this process. The Woodland Carbon Code estimates that
this planting will save 56,000 tCO2e after 50 years.

17. Summary of Actions and their Carbon Impact
17.1. The above discussed options have been summarised in Chart 9 to highlight
the cumulative impact that changes would have up to 2030. The chart does not
factor in when actions might happen but assumes that they would be completed by
2030.

34

https://woodlandcarboncode.org.uk/

A Review of Carbon Reduction Opportunities for Eastleigh Borough

21

63

64
Chart 9 - Overall Reductions and Increases of CO2e for Eastleigh Borough

A Review of Carbon Reduction Opportunities for Eastleigh Borough

22

17.2. Whilst making a significant reduction in CO2e across the period to 2030, the
above actions are insufficient to achieving carbon neutrality by 2030.
17.3. It should be noted that due to availability of data, some areas were not able to
be investigated in as great detail as others e.g., transport, which means that there
are potential savings that could be achieved but at present it is not possible to
calculate them with any degree of reliability.
17.4. Similarly, some of the savings which are outside of the control of Eastleigh
Borough Council e.g., decarbonisation of the electricity grid is not scheduled to reach
net-zero until after the 2030 timescale, and this is reflected in the data used.
17.5. It would also be possible, subject to suitable opportunities, to increase some
of the savings indicated by expanding projects beyond those stated in the text e.g.,
installation of renewables. However, this would be governed by relevant constraints,
and the figures in these cased should be treated as a guide.

18. Offsetting
18.1. The gap between net-zero and the current prediction could be overcome by
offsetting the remaining CO2, however given the current level of uncertainty over
some of the areas as mentioned above it is difficult to say to what extent or when
such offsetting would be required and how long for, if some areas will deliver beyond
2030.

19. Conclusions
19.1. Even with emissions resulting from expected growth in Eastleigh there are
significant opportunities to reduce emissions with a view to achieving the carbon
neutrality target of 2030.
19.2. However, there would need to be a significant deployment of resources to
achieve this and in areas that are not solely under the control of Eastleigh Borough
Council.
19.3. Additionally, time is a significant constraint to reaching the 2030 target, as
many of the bigger opportunities in terms of emission reduction will take time to plan
and deliver.

A Review of Carbon Reduction Opportunities for Eastleigh Borough

23

65

Appendix 1 – Summary of Brief.
A set of scenarios have been developed to run from 201935 to 2030 based upon
existing data published by central government for local authority areas. Akin to
carbon budgets from the Committee on Climate Change a similar set of budgets will
be developed to show the suggested steps to carbon neutrality for the Borough of
Eastleigh by 2030.
Overlaying the projected emissions and budgets, scenarios will be developed which
will look at several factors. These factors were agreed with Eastleigh Borough
Council (EBC), at the start of this work programme and are listed below:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Decarbonisation of grid electricity
Impact of new development (at different standards of development to reflect
building regulations and future changes)
Removal of new mains gas heating from residential development by 2025,
including the impact on increased use of electricity
Deployment of renewables at varying levels
Decarbonisation of heating (space and process)
Retrofitting of existing residential developments to EPC ‘C’ or better
Travel options e.g., modal shift (private car to public transport), increasing
cycling walking, EV ownership, airport
Waste reduction
Water use reduction to lower CO2e produced in purification and other
processes
Land use changes
Behaviour change / personal consumption
Offsetting requirements

The following broad process was used to further develop scenarios:
•
•
•
•
•

Identify relevant data sets for the various factors
Analyse data sets to inform methodology for modelling
Develop and run models for factors
Analyse outputs and sense/error check
Compile factors to overall scenarios

A number of these factors e.g. behaviour change, are more subjective but can be
used indicatively to highlight the potential need for action in these areas.

35

The most recently available set of nationally published data is up to 3 years behind due to data
complexity

A Review of Carbon Reduction Opportunities for Eastleigh Borough

66

24

There is also a degree of overlap between some of these factors and where this
exists and can be clearly identified it will be highlighted. To avoid double counting
where possible it will therefore only be recorded in one factor.
Some of these factors may also lead to co-benefits for other desirable outcomes
e.g., an increase in walking could lead to health and wellbeing co-benefits. Where
these are obvious these will be noted. Where the reverse is also true these will be
recorded but it should be emphasised that in these cases the reduction in CO2e
might be a side-effect of another action that is being led by another organisation.
It is recognised that no scenario can be developed that will bring emissions to zero
for the Borough of Eastleigh by 2030 without some form of offsetting or by extending
the timeline beyond 2030. It is therefore assumed that the use of offsetting is valid
but should be minimised and that extending the deadline beyond 2030 should be
avoided.

A Review of Carbon Reduction Opportunities for Eastleigh Borough

25

67

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 9
POLICY AND PERFORMANCE SCRUTINY PANEL
Thursday, 14 July 2022
CORPORATE KPI REVIEW 2022/23
CABINET
Thursday, 15 September 2022
Report of the Resource Manager

Recommendation(s)
It is recommended that the Policy and Performance Scrutiny Panel:
(1)

comments on the proposed changes to the Corporate Key Performance
Indicators for 2022/23 at Appendix 1 and recommends to Cabinet for
approval.

It is recommended that Cabinet:
(2)

approves the proposed changes to the Corporate Key Performance Indicators
for 2022/23 at Appendix 1.

Summary
 The report proposes amendments to the Corporate Key Performance Indicator
listing for 2022/23 in line with the ambitions of the Council and to achieve more
effective management of performance.
Statutory Powers


Local Government Act 1972 and Localism Act 2011

69

Strategic Implications
1.

The Council’s Corporate Key Performance Indicator (KPI) listing focuses on
the delivery of statutory or business as usual services, whilst aligning
measures to the Council’s strategic direction. The Corporate KPI listing
provides good insight into the Council’s overall performance and can suggest
how the Council is positioned to achieve its strategic objectives.

Introduction

70

2.

The aim of the Corporate KPI review is to enable reporting against a suite of
indicators that, with narrative, collectively provide a good overview of the
Council’s performance. The review also aims to provide organisational
alignment in ensuring that the achievement of overall ambitions and the
delivery of core services is monitored.

3.

A review of our Corporate Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) has been
undertaken in line with ambitions for the financial year 2022/23. The Council’s
existing KPIs have been set for a number of years and have only seen minor
changes during that time. The KPI listing does give a fair overview of Council
performance, but there are some omissions due to the Council’s changing
ambitions and the changing national position. Some indicators focus on
business-as-usual service, as the performance of these functions is critical
alongside KPIs measuring the achievement of the Council’s ambitious
projects and initiatives.

4.

The Council currently reports performance against its full list of indicators on a
quarterly basis through Policy and Performance Scrutiny Panel with a
summarised report taken to Cabinet. The Council’s quarterly performance
reporting process allows for the escalation of Service Performance Indicators
(SPIs) through the Executive Summary Reports (ESRs) and the review has
made recommendations on SPIs direct to the relevant Executive Heads.

5.

Feedback received prior to the review was compiled and incorporated into the
review process alongside discussions with Executive Heads, Service
Managers and Portfolio Holders. Commentary from the Strategic Planning
Team was sought as well as from other members of staff involved in the
Council’s performance monitoring process.

6.

Existing KPIs were reviewed, and a recommendation is included to either,
retain, alter or remove the indicator. New additions to the corporate KPI listing
were considered based on the Council’s ambitions, feedback received and on
occasion, existing statutory reporting. During discussions, recommendations
for service performance indicators (SPIs) were also made, some of which will
be escalated through the quarterly Executive Summary Report (ESRs)
throughout 2022/23.

7.

Where evidence shows that the threshold (target) should be reviewed, these
changes have been carefully considered and are proposed within the
appended revised KPIs.

Eastleigh Borough Council

8.

Appendix 1 details the recommended changes as well as eleven further
recommendations.

Financial Implications
9.

There are no direct financial implications arising from this report, however, by
ensuring performance is monitored robustly, the Council can ensure it is
operating efficiently which can influence the Council’s financial position.

Risk Assessment
10.

The corporate key performance indicator monitoring process can be used as a
barometer and early warning of problems that may arise. Many of the
Council’s KPIs are aligned to statutory processing timescales and so
appropriate monitoring can manage the risk of service failings and appropriate
action can be promptly taken to mitigate the risk.

Equality and Diversity Implications
11.

The Equality Act is not relevant to the decision in this report because it is a
report dealing with internal or procedural matters only.

Climate Change and Environmental Implications
12.

There are no significant Climate Change implications from this report, or in the
monitoring of corporate key performance indicators.

Conclusion
13.

The report and its accompanying documents summarise the changes to the
Council’s key performance indicators following the 2022/23 review. The views
of the Panel are sought on the proposed changes and further
recommendations.

14.

Following scrutiny by the Policy and Performance Scrutiny Panel, it is
recommended that Cabinet consider any recommendations from the Panel
and approve the proposed changes.

LEWIS GOOLD
RESOURCE MANAGER
Date:
Contact Officer:
Tel No:
e-mail:
Appendices Attached:

29 June 2022
Lewis Goold
02380 688 137
lewis.goold@eastleigh.gov.uk
2

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - SECTION 100D
Eastleigh Borough Council

71

The following is a list of documents which disclose facts or matters on which this
report or an important part of it is based and have been relied upon to a material
extent in the preparation of this report. This list does not include any published works
or documents which would disclose exempt or confidential information.
*None.

72

Eastleigh Borough Council

Appendix 1 – Corporate Key Performance Indicator (KPI) Review – 2022/23
AIM
The aim of the review is to produce and report against a suite of indicators that with narrative,
collectively provides a good overview of the Council’s performance. The review also aims to provide
organisational alignment in ensuring that the monitoring of overall ambition and the delivery of core
services is monitored.
Background
A holistic review of our Corporate Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) has been long suggested. In line
with future ambitions for the financial year 2022/23, a review of our indicators has taken place. The
Council’s existing KPIs have been set for numerous years and have only seen minor tweaks during
that time. The KPI listing does give a fair overview of Council performance but there are some
omissions due to the Council’s changing ambitions and the changing national position. Whilst some
indicators do focus on business-as-usual service, it is important to remember that the performance
of these functions is critical to allowing the Council to deliver its ambitious projects and initiatives.
The Council currently reports performance against its full list of indicators on a quarterly basis
through Policy & Performance Scrutiny Panel and Cabinet. The Council’s quarterly performance
reporting process allows for the escalation of service performance indicators (SPIs) through the
Executive Summary Reports and the review has made recommendations on SPIs direct to the
relevant Executive Heads. Performance against a reduced list of indicators is reported to Cabinet
monthly. The review has considered the full list of indicators and a discussion will be required with
Cabinet to determine whether the reduced list of indicators needs expansion.
Methodology
Where possible, feedback received prior to the beginning of the review was compiled and
incorporated into the review process. Numerous discussions were carried out with Executive Heads,
Service Managers and Portfolio Holders. Commentary from the Strategic Planning team was sought
as well as from other members of staff involved in the Council’s performance monitoring process
Existing KPIs were reviewed, and a recommendation was made to either, keep, alter or remove the
indicator. New additions to the corporate KPI listing were considered based on the Council’s
ambitions, feedback received and on occasion, existing statutory reporting. During discussions,
recommendations for service performance indicators (SPIs) were also made, some of which will be
escalated through the quarterly performance reporting (ESRs) throughout 2022/23
Strategic Alignment
The Corporate KPI listing focuses on the delivery of statutory or business as usual services, however,
efforts have been made to align measures to the Council’s strategic direction. With that said, the
review acknowledges the existing governance arrangements through project and delivery boards.
KPIs are an element of performance reporting and wider narrative through the quarterly Executive
Summary Reports will expand upon the data to more holistically report on performance.
Threshold Changes
Due to the length of time passed since an overall review, many of the existing thresholds are out of
date. The notion of making an amendment to a threshold does create a feeling of expectations being

73

altered. However, where evidence shows that the position has been changed significantly or that
thresholds are unachievable, changes have been carefully considered and proposed.
Recommended Changes
Appendix A details the full listing of KPIs, and the recommendation is shown within column F with
commentary in columns G, H and I. For ease of reading, the changes recommended are detailed
below along with any supporting commentary
Alterations
KPI
Repeat missed bins within same month by
household (number, and as percentage of
all missed bins)
Altered to
Households where total missed collections
is more than two in the last 6 months

Alteration
KPI Reworked and
new
thresholds

Reason for Alteration
It’s proposed that the existing
measure is replaced with a more
robust indicator showing a similar
output.

NO2 concentration at monitoring site with
highest level (average for year to date in
ugm-3)
Altered to
NO2 concentration across the combined
average of all four air quality management
areas (AQMAs) (rolling 12 month)

KPI Reworked and
new
thresholds

Due to a long-standing fault with
equipment, it’s proposed that
information from diffusion tubes
from across the 4 AQMAs is utilised
instead. The performance of each
individual AQMA will be broken
down within reporting.

Participation in Arts and Culture activities
(number, and % of target)
Altered to
Throughput in Arts and Culture activities
(number, and % of target)
Visitors to Itchen Valley Country Park
(number, and % of variable monthly
target)
Altered to
Itchen Valley Annual Throughput (number,
and % of variable monthly target)
CSC – Customer interactions resolved at
first point of contact (%)
Altered to
CSC - Customer calls resolved at first point
of contact (%)
Throughput at HealthWorks sessions
(number)
Attendance at SportWorks sessions
(number
Visits to Places Leisure Eastleigh (number)

KPI Reworked

Wording alteration for consistency
across Health and Wellbeing. No
change to the reporting metrics

KPI Reworked

Wording alteration for consistency
across Health and Wellbeing. No
change to the reporting metrics

KPI Reworded

The alteration in wording reflects
what this indicator measures (FPOC
% for calls and not all interactions)

Thresholds
Updated
Thresholds
Updated
Thresholds
Updated
Thresholds
Updated

Thresholds amended based on COVID
uncertainties and staffing
Thresholds amended based on COVID
uncertainties
Thresholds amended based on COVID
uncertainties
Thresholds updated to reflect historic
performance and increased demand.

Council Tax - Customers with outstanding
account queries older than 15 days

74

(number)
Green = less than 200 (unchanged)
Amber = less than 500 (was less than 400)
Red = 500 or more (was 400 or more)

The percentage of queries
outstanding versus the total bills
issued will also be included this year.
E.g., 600 queries = 1% of total bills
issued
With population and property
growth, along with an increasing
number of collections (fortnightly
glass), it’s recommended that the
threshold for this indicator is altered
to a more realistic target

Customer-reported missed bins - refuse &
recycling only (number, and as percentage
of all bins collected)
Green = less than 350 (was less than 300)
Amber = less than 450 (was less than 350)
Red = 450 or more (was 350 or more)

Thresholds
Updated

Businesses supported (number per month
and YTD) including Wessex House and
Platform4 Business
Green = 180 or more for year (or 15 or
more per month) (was Green = 1,000 or
more for year)
Amber = Between 150-180 per year (or
between 12-15 per month) (Addition)
Red = less than 150 for year (or less than
12 per month) (was less than 1,000 per
year)
Council Tax collected (cumulative
percentage)

Thresholds
Updated

Thresholds lowered due to the
stopping of government COVID grant
payments

Thresholds
Updated

Non-domestic Rates (NDR - business rates)
collected (cumulative percentage)

Thresholds
Updated

Thresholds updated to measure
performance against 2021/22 rather
than 2019/20 due to length of time
passed. 2021/22 considered a new
“normal”
Thresholds updated to measure
performance against 2021/22 rather
than 2019/20 due to length of time
passed. 2021/22 considered a new
“normal”

Additions
KPI
The percentage of high-risk (A/B) premises
inspections completed within one month when
due

The percentage of planning responses provided
by Ecology within 14 days
Gas usage per square meterage (weather
corrected)

Electric usage per square meterage

Reason for Addition
An indicator of performance within the
commercial team of Environmental Health. A/B
rating refers to premises deemed to be of
highest risk and as such, need timelier
inspections
The Ecology team have a strong guiding role, and
this is a core activity which provides insight into
overall team performance
Considering the strong Climate and
Environmental Emergency focus, this indicator
provides the visibility of a large EBC emission and
allows for further narrative to be shared.
Considering the strong Climate and
Environmental Emergency focus, this indicator

75

Fuel usage via the Hedge End Depot

Net rent collected as % of total net rent
demanded for all Corporation Estate
Number of RIDDOR incidents per 100
employees (to include consultants, temps,
casual staff), per annum
1s and 2s Planning Enforcement case
determination within target (1s = 30 days, 2s =
90 days)
3s and 4s Planning Enforcement case
determination within 42 days
% Of Housing Enforcement service requests
which received a site visit
RAG performance against the delivery of
obligations for the "O" (operators) licence

ELAC Pay and Display Ticket Sales and Income
(Number and % Comparison to 2019/20)

provides the visibility of a large EBC emission and
allows for further narrative to be shared.
Considering the strong Climate and
Environmental Emergency focus, this indicator
provides the visibility of a large EBC emission and
allows for further narrative to be shared. In
addition, this will highlight progress against the
movement to a more sustainable fleet
This in year measure will provide an overall sense
of recovery for the Council’s corporation estate
In line with the Council’s Health and Safety
responsibilities, this provides visibility of the
Council’s H&S performance
The area of Planning Enforcement is not
represented and carries a large amount of public
interest. This measure will provide a good
overview of area performance
As above, however this focuses more on the
service delivered via Local Area Services on
Planning’s behalf
This measure will provide a good overview as to
the performance of the Housing Standards team
This function is critical to enable the Council to
maintain services and this indicator will allow for
greater awareness of any resulting action that
may be required
COVID-19 has brought the parking position into
further focus and the combined ELAC pay and
display ticket sales information provides a good
insight into the overall performance across the
Borough. It avoids potential anomalies from
highs and lows such as car parking at IVCP

Removals (see recommendation 3)
KPI
CSC - Interactions handled (average number
per working day) *
New benefit (Council Tax or Housing Benefit)
claims received (number)
Businesses registered to pay rates (number)
Cases raised across all service areas (number)
Cases raised via the Members' Hub (number)
Attendance at The Point and Berry Theatres (%
of capacity)
Further Recommendations

76

Reason for Removal
To be monitored alongside the KPIs as a context
indicator
To be monitored alongside the KPIs as a context
indicator
To be monitored alongside the KPIs as a context
indicator
To be monitored alongside the KPIs as a context
indicator
To be monitored alongside the KPIs as a context
indicator
Replaced by “Throughput in Arts and Culture
activities (number, and % of target)”

1. To ensure that the future emerging ambitions of the Council are reflected, it is
recommended that an annual review of the Corporate KPI listing is undertaken, with
changes proposed, approved and implemented in readiness for the start of the new financial
year.
2. To provide context, there are several workload information indicators within the listing. The
indicators do not demonstrate the quality of performance, but rather the volume. It’s
recommended that the Corporate KPI listing only features output performance indicators.
3. It’s recognised that workload/context information does provide valuable insight and so the
Council should expand upon the amount of supplementary information it provides. It’s
recommended that a list of supporting context indicators is produced and reported
alongside the listing of performance indicators on a monthly and annual basis, a drafted
example can be seen in Appendix 2.
4. The climate and environment emergency is a clear priority for the Council and as such it’s
recommended that three new additions are made to the listing. This will provide the
platform for wider commentary on progress in relation to the C&EE to be made.
5. It’s recognised that despite making a significant number of additions, there are services and
activities not represented. The delivery of local projects is a key focus for the Council and as
such an overall indicator could be considered. However, at this time, the monitoring
provided by the internal governance of the Council has been deemed to be sufficient. The
reporting against project delivery will also continue to feature through the quarterly ESR
performance reporting process.
6. Further, there are several measures that couldn’t be addressed at this time but have been
captured for consideration in a future review. These include a measure focused on the
Council’s Fly-Tipping enforcement action, a suite of measures focused on the Housing
programme and a more robust measure highlighting progress against the climate and
environmental emergency.
7. Where much of the delivery of an output rests with Customer Care, performance should be
reported by that service area. This reflects the responsibilities involved and would allow for
more context through the narrative provided
8. Similarly, direct performance against the Corporate Action Plan is critical. There is comfort
with the existing level of monitoring through the quarterly performance process and ad-hoc
reporting through P&P and Cabinet, but it should be more heavily emphasised through a
change to the report template.
9. The majority of the corporate KPIs are quantitative. Qualitative data is by its nature, takes
more time to compile and analyse. However, the Council should look to introduce more
measures focused on qualitative data that is available, including customer feedback through
future annual reviews
10. In line with the Council’s Case Management ambitions, the Case Management System
should be used to capture feedback post case completion. The capability should be
requested, and it could be trialled through internal cases and cases raised via the members
hub.
11. Furthermore, the Council should utilise comparative data from other Local Authorities that is
available to provide further performance context (e.g., LG Inform). With that said, it’s
important that comparisons are used carefully, and the data selected offers a fair like for like
comparison.

77

This page is intentionally left blank

Reported to Cabinet Monthly

Theme

Executive / Service Area

KPI

Better =

KPI thresholds

Status

Environment

Neighbourhood Services: Direct Services

Collected domestic waste recycled (%)

↑

Green = 45% or more
Amber = less than 45%
Red = less than 42.4%

Keep

Environment

Neighbourhood Services: Direct Services

Customer‐reported missed bins ‐ refuse & recycling only (number, and ↓
as percentage of all bins collected)

Green = less than 300
Amber = less than 350
Red = 350 or more

Alter

Environment

Neighbourhood Services: Direct Services

Green = less than 15%
Amber = less than 25%
Red = 25% or more

Alter

Remove

Environment

Environment: Environmental Nuisance (To be transferred to
Customer Care: Delivery Case Management)

Repeat missed bins within same month by household (number, and as ↓
percentage of all missed bins)
Alter to
Households where total missed collections is more than two in the last
6 months
Noise nuisance requests responded to on time (% & actual number of ↑
requests)

Green = 90% or more
Amber = less than 90%
Red = less than 75%

Keep

New Addition

Economy

Finance & Housing Programme: Council Tax

Council Tax collected (cumulative percentage)

↑

Green = within 1% of 2019/20
Amber = within 2% of 2019/20
Red = more than 2% lower than 2019/20

Alter

Thresholds Updated to
Green = within 1% of 2021/22
Amber = within 2% of 2021/22
Red = more than 2% lower than 2021/22

Economy

Finance & Housing Programme: Business Rates

Non‐domestic Rates (NDR ‐ business rates) collected (cumulative
percentage)

↑

Green = within 1% of 2019/20
Amber = within 2% of 2019/20
Red = more than 2% lower than 2019/20

Alter

Economy

Customer Care: Delivery Case Management

Council Tax ‐ Customers with outstanding account queries older than
15 days (number)

↓

April 2020 onwards:
Green = less than 200
Amber = less than 500
Red = 500 or more

Alter

Thresholds Updated to
Green = within 1% of 2021/22
Amber = within 2% of 2021/22
Red = more than 2% lower than 2021/22
Thresholds updated to reflect historic performance and increased
demand (400 to 500). The percentage of queries outstanding
versus the total bills issued will also be included this year. E.g. 600
queries = 1% of total bills issued

Health & wellbeing

Health & Wellbeing: Housing Needs & Homelessness

Households on housing register (number)

↓

No target
[Av. 2018/19 = 1,845; 2019/20 = 1,774; 2020/21 = 1,884]

Keep

Health & wellbeing

Health & Wellbeing: Housing Needs & Homelessness

Average waiting time for band 2 and 3 properties (months)

↓

Green = 36.7 or less
Red = more than 36.7

Keep

Health & wellbeing

Health & Wellbeing: Housing Needs & Homelessness

Green = less than 4 households
Amber = less than 9 households
Red = 9 or more households

Keep

Health & wellbeing

Customer Care: Delivery Case Management

Households staying in emergency accommodation arranged by the
↓
Council (number)*
[Before 4/2021: Homeless cases prevented through intervention of
housing advice (number)]
New benefit (Council Tax or Housing Benefit) claims received (number) ↔

No target (workflow indicator)

Remove

Health & wellbeing

Customer Care: Delivery Case Management

Time to process new benefit (Council Tax Support & Housing Benefit)
claims (days)

↓

Keep

Health & wellbeing

Customer Care: Delivery Case Management

Time to process benefit (Council Tax Support & Housing Benefit)
change events (days)

↓

Health & wellbeing

Health & Wellbeing: Housing Standards

Proportion of DFGs decided within 6 months of the application
submission date*

↑

Green = less than 22 days
Amber = less than 26 days
Red = 26 days or more
Green = less than 9 days
Amber = less than 11 days
Red = 11 days or more
Green = 75% or more
Amber = 60% or more
Red = less than 60%

Review Comments

Keep

Keep

Keep

Alter threshold considering number of new properties in the
borough ‐ Recommend
Green ‐ less than 350
Amber ‐ less than 450
Red ‐ 450 or more

Suggesting removal due to this being outside of the service's control
and as such it isn't a performance measure. Monitor as a workload
context indiciator

Alter

79

80
Planning & Property

Planning & Economy: Development Management

Planning & Property

Planning & Economy: Development Management

Major planning applications processed within statutory timeframe (%,
and actual numbers)
Minor planning applications processed within statutory timeframe (%,
and actual numbers)
Other planning applications processed within statutory timeframe (%)

Planning & Property

Planning & Economy: Development Management

Planning & Property

Planning & Economy: Development Management

Planning appeals allowed as a proportion of all planning application
decisions (%, and actual number of appeals and decisions)

↑
↑
↑
↓

Organisation

Customer Care: Support Case Management

Organisation

Customer Care: Customer Service Centre

Corporate complaints outside SLA (%, and actual number of
complaints)
CSC ‐ Interactions handled (average number per working day)*

↔

↓

Organisation

Customer Care: Customer Service Centre

CSC ‐ Calls answered vs. offered (%)

↑

Organisation

Organisational Development: HR

Staff turnover (% of people voluntarily resigning cf. total headcount for ↓
rolling 12 month period)

Green = 60% or more
Red = less than 60%
Green = 65% or more
Red = less than 65%
Green = 80% or more
Red = less than 80%
Green = less than 10%
Red = 10% or more
Green = 25% or less
Red = more than 25%
No target (workflow indicator)

Keep
Keep
Keep
Keep

Keep
Remove

Green = 85% or more
Amber = 80% or more
Red = less than 80%
Green = 15% or less
Amber = 18% or less
Red = more than 18%

Keep

Suggesting removal due to this being outside of the service's control
and as such it isn't a performance measure. Monitor as a workload
context indiciator

Keep

Not Reported to Cabinet Monthly

Theme
Environment

Executive / Service Area
Neighbourhood Services: Direct Services

KPI
Collected domestic residual waste (Kg per household per month)

Better =
↓

KPI thresholds
Green = less than 35.5kg
Amber = less than 36.7kg
Red = 36.7kg or more

Status
Keep

Comments
22/23 Target = 424.07kg per household per year = 35.3kg
23/24 Target = 401.87kg per household per year = 33.5kg
24/25 Target = 379.64kg per household per year = 31.6kg
25/26 Target = 361.66kg per household per year = 30.1kg
26/27 Target = 343.87kg per household per year = 28.7kg
27/28 Target = 326.42kg per household per year = 27.2kg
28/29 Target = 309.25kg per household per year = 25.8kg
29/30 Target = 292.41kg per household per year = 24.4kg

Environment

Neighbourhood Services: Direct Services

Land Audit Management System (LAMS) score (% of non‐acceptable
rated inspections, & actual number of inspections)

↓

Green = 5% or less
Red = more than 5%

Keep

Environment

Neighbourhood Services: Direct Services

Clearing of fly‐tipping completed on time (%, & actual number of
incidents)

↑

Green = 95% or more
Amber = 90% or more
Red = less than 90%

Keep

Environment

Environment: Environmental Nuisance

NO2 concentration across the combined average of all four air quality
management areas (AQMAs) (rolling 12 month)

↓

TBC

Alter

Suggested replacement to be a rolling 12 month combined average
of all four air quality management areas (AQMAs). Thresholds are to
be confirmed following trial of data.

Environment

Environment: Commercial

The percentage of high‐risk (A/B) premises inspections completed
within one month when due (rolling 12 month figure and includes
number)

↑

Green = 90% or more
Amber = less than 90%
Red = less than 85%

New Addition

*Food businesses are risk rated using the national Food Standards
Agency framework and given a rating of A to E, with A representing
the highest risk and E the lowest risk. The higher the risk, the more
frequently the business receives a food hygiene inspection

Environment

Environment: Ecology

The percentage of planning responses provided by Ecology within 14
days

↑

Green = 96% or more
Amber = 95% or less
Red = less than 90%

New Addition

Further supplementary information regarding the Ecological state of
the borough will be provided annually through the quarterly
performance report process (ESR)

Environment

Environment: Climate Change

Gas usage per square meterage (weather corrected)

↓

Reduction as per the same month in the previous year
Green = Decrease
Red = Increase

New Addition

Significant commentary will be required but this will achieve
visibility. The following note will be added to the monitoring sheet
"Figures are subject to seasonal changes and occupancy
fluctuations"

Environment

Environment: Climate Change

Electric usage per square meterage

↓

Reduction as per the same month in the previous year
Green = Decrease
Red = Increase

New Addition

Significant commentary will be required but this will achieve
visibility. The following note will be added to the monitoring sheet
"Figures are subject to seasonal changes and occupancy
fluctuations"

Environment

Environment: Climate Change

Fuel usage via the Hedge End Depot

↓

Reduction as per the same month in the previous year
Green = Decrease
Red = Increase

New Addition

Significant commentary will be required but this will achieve
visibility. "Figures are subject to changes in property numbers
through development and round changes"

Economy

Planning & Economy: Economy & Business Development

Businesses supported (number per month and YTD) including Wessex
House and Platform4 Business

↑

Green = 1,000 or more for year
Red = less than 1,000 for year

Alter

Thresholds to be altered. Proposed changes from Green = 1,000 or
more for year, Red = less than 1,000 for year to Green = 180 or more
for year (or 15 or more per month); Amber = Between 150‐180 per
year (or between 12‐15 per month) and Red = less than 150 for year
(or less than 12 per month) Change is due to the removal of COVID
grant payments

Economy

Finance & Housing Programme: Business Rates

Businesses registered to pay rates (number)

↑

Target yet to be decided

Remove

Suggesting removal due to this being outside of the service's control
and as such it isn't a performance measure. Monitor as a workload
context indiciator

Economy

Planning & Economy: Economy & Business Development

Occupancy rate for tenantable space at Eastleigh Business Centre* (%)

↑

Green = 75% or more
Amber = 65% or more
Red = less than 65%.
[Thresholds before 4/2020: Green = 84% or more; Amber =
less than 84%; Red = less than 80%]

Keep

Health & wellbeing

Health & Wellbeing: Arts & Culture

Attendance at The Point and Berry Theatres (% of capacity)

↑

No targets, while Covid restrictions apply.
[2019/20 thresholds:
Green = 50% or more
Amber = 40% or more
Red = less than 40%]

Remove

Remove as its been replaced with the below, "Throughput in Arts
and Culture activities (number, and % of target)"

Health & wellbeing

Health & Wellbeing: Arts & Culture

Throughput in Arts and Culture activities (number, and % of target)

↑

Annual target 70,000 (2,500 per month)
Green = 5,833 (100%) or more
Amber = 5,541 (95%) or more
Red = less than 5,249 (90%)

Alter

Consistency required

Health & wellbeing

Health & Wellbeing: Country Parks

Itchen Valley Annual Throughput (number, and % of variable monthly
target)

↑

Variable monthly target
Green = 90% or more
Amber = 70% or more
Red = less than 70%

Alter

Wording alteration for consistency across Health and Wellbeing

Health & wellbeing

Health & Wellbeing: Healthy Communities

Throughput at HealthWorks sessions (number)

↑

Green = more than 85%
Amber = more than 65%
Red = 64% (900) or less

Alter

Given the current staffing situation and ongoing uncertainties
recommend reduc ing the 100% figure from 1050 to 900 in the
2022/23 service plan to allow for recovery.

Health & wellbeing

Health & Wellbeing: Healthy Communities

Throughput at SportWorks sessions (number)

↑

Alter

Health & wellbeing

Health & Wellbeing: Healthy Communities

Visits to Places Leisure Eastleigh (number)

↑

Planning & Property

Finance & Housing Programme: Housing Programme &
Strategy
Customer Care: Support Case Management
Customer Care: Customer Service Centre

Net additional homes delivered (number)

↑

Organisation
Organisation

Customer complaints (number)
CSC ‐ Customer calls resolved at first point of contact (%)

↓
↑

Green = 2,800 or more
Amber = 2,400 or more
Red = Less than 2,000
Green = 80,000 or more
Amber = 68,800 or more
Red = less than 68,800
Green = total 189 or more net dwellings per quarter
Red = less than 189 net dwellings
No target
Green = 60% or more
Amber = 50% or more
Red = less than 50%

Organisation

Organisational Development: HR

Corporate sickness (average number of working days lost due to
sickness absence per employee per year)

↓

Organisation

Governance: Legal

FOI / EIR requests responded to within SLA (%, and actual number of
requests)

↑

Organisation

Customer Care: Support Case Management

Invoices paid within 10 days (%)

↑

Organisation

Customer Care: Support Case Management

Cases raised across all service areas (number)

↑

Organisation

Customer Care: Support Case Management

Organisation

Customer Care: Support Case Management

Average case duration for cases raised across all service areas (working ↓
days)
Cases raised via the Members' Hub (number)
↑

Organisation

Customer Care: Support Case Management

Organisation

Assets: Asset Management

Organisation

Assets: Facilities ‐ Health & Safety

Average case duration for cases raised via the Members' Hub (working ↓
days)
Net rent collected as % of total net rent demanded for all Corporation ↑
Estate
Number of RIDDOR incidents per 100 employees (to include
consultants, temps, casual staff), per annum

↓

Green = less than 7 days
Amber = less than 7.5 days
Red = 7.5 days or more
Green = more than 90%
Amber = more than 85%
Red = 85% or less
Green = 75% or more
Amber = 70% or more
Red = less than 70%
Green = 5,000 or more
Amber = less than 5,000
Red = less than 4,000
Green = 15 days or less
Red = more than 15 days
Green = 40 or more
Amber = less than 40
Red = less than 20
Green = 15 days or less
Red = more than 15 days
Green 90% or more
Amber 76% ‐ 89%
Red less than 75%
Green = ‐1.1
Amber = 1.1 – 1.3
Red = 1.4 and above

Alter

Keep
Keep
Alter

Wording change from "Customer Interactions" to "Customer Calls"
to reflect the existing nature of the indicator. Aspiration is to grow
this measure to include all methods of contact but currently the
information cannot be reported against

Keep

Keep

Keep

Remove

Suggesting removal due to this being outside of the service's control
and as such it isn't a performance measure. Monitor as a workload
context indiciator

Keep
Remove

Keep
New Addition

New Addition

Suggesting removal due to this being outside of the service's control
and as such it isn't a performance measure. Monitor as a workload
context indiciator

81

82
Planning & Property

Planning & Economy: Planning Enforcement

1s and 2s Planning Enforcement case determination within target (1s = ↑
30 days, 2s = 90 days)

Planning & Property

Customer Care: Local Area Services

3s and 4s Planning Enforcement case determination within 42 days

↑

Health & wellbeing

Health & Wellbeing: Housing Standards

% of Housing Enforcement service requests which received a site visit

↑

Transport

Neighbourhood Services: Direct Services

RAG performance against the delivery of obligations for the "O"
(operators) licence

↑

Transport

Neighbourhood Services: Direct Services

ELAC Pay and Display Ticket Sales and Income (Number and %
Comparison to 2019/20)

↓

Green ‐ 80% of the target
Amber ‐ 75% ‐ 80%
Red ‐ Less than 75%
Green ‐ 80% of the target
Amber ‐ 75% ‐ 80%
Red ‐ Less than 75%
Green: 30% or above
Amber:15‐30%
Red:below 15%
Green: Green Result
Amber: Amber Result
Red: Red Result
Green ‐ Less than 30%
Amber ‐ Between 30‐35%
Red ‐ More than 35%

New Addition

New Addition

New Addition

New Addition

New Addition

The Swan Centre ticket sales provides a good insight into the overall
performance across the Borough and avoids potential anomalies
from highs and lows such as car parking at IVCP. Thresholds to be
confirmed

Agenda Item 10
POLICY AND PERFORMANCE SCRUTINY PANEL
Thursday, 14 July 2022
ANNUAL CUSTOMER CARE REPORT
Report of the Case Management Team Leader for Service Delivery

Recommendation:
It is recommended that the Policy and Performance Scrutiny Panel considers and
notes information in the Annual Compliments and Complaints report.

Summary
This report analyses the number of compliments and complaints received in the period 1
April 2021 – 31 March 2022. It also provides data for the previous two years to enable the
Panel to compare performance. This data also includes the number of complaints that
were escalated to the formal Level Two stage of the Council’s Complaints Procedure.
This report also considers the complaints raised to, and the decisions made by the Local
Government and Social Care Ombudsman (LGO) for the period 1 April 2020 to 31 March
2021. The LGO will publish their summary of complaints received for 2021/22 in July
2022. Figures from the LGO for 2021/22 were not available at the time of writing this
report.

Statutory Powers
Local Government Act 1972 Section 111, Localism Act 2011 Section 1.

Strategic Implications
1.0

This report relates to the efficient operation of Council services and the way the
Council delivers against the Corporate Plan 2015-2025 objectives, by:
a.
b.
c.
d.

1.1

Meeting the needs of our residents, businesses, and other key stakeholders.
Operating in a business-like, commercially focussed way.
Ensuring our services are well planned and efficient; and
Making the best use of technology.

Monitoring significant changes in levels of complaints for a service is a control
mechanism, prompting management to investigate service performance and take
appropriate remedial action.

83

1.2

The way the Council serves and responds to customers, including when they make
complaints, is a key determinant of reputation, and trust in public bodies. This is
particularly important for the most vulnerable or disempowered residents and relates
to the Council objective of ‘Enabling Health and Wellbeing’ and ‘Tackling
Deprivation.’

Introduction
2.0

The Council’s complaints procedure does not cover every circumstance in which
someone contacts the Council with a matter of concern. In most cases, the concerns
received are resolved as a service request, or within the service areas, and are not
classed as a corporate complaint.

2.1

Escalation of a Level One or Two complaint is initiated by the customer writing to the
service within the Council or by a customer submitting a complaint through the
Customer Care portal on the EBC website:
https://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/council/customer-care

2.2

An acknowledgement is sent within three working days from the Customer Care case
management system to the customer, and a final response within 15 working days.
However, where the investigation is likely to take longer, the relevant service area will
notify the customer with a holding email or letter and an extension is applied to the
investigation time.

2.3

All compliments, complaints, and comments are managed as Customer Care cases.
Any complaint will be investigated and responded to by the relevant Manager,
Specialist and Service Lead for the area to which the complaint relates.

2.4

If the customer is not satisfied with the outcome of their complaint, they can request it
is escalated to Level Two, to be investigated by an independent senior officer.

2.5

If the customer feels that the matter has still not been resolved to their satisfaction on
completion of Level Two of the Council’s complaints procedure, they may escalate
the matter to the Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman (LGO).

2.6

The current Complaints Policy is in the process of being reviewed and was
presented to Policy and Performance Scrutiny Panel in March. The feedback
received has been incorporated into a new policy which will be presented to Cabinet
for approval in July 2022. This includes recommendations to changes to the current
process.
Customer Feedback

3.0

There were 114 compliments received by the Council during the period of 1 April
2021– 31 March 2022. This compares to 146 in the same period for 2020/2021 and
152 in 2019/2020. (See appendix 1).

3.1

These compliments are from members of the public who have actively chosen to
express their thanks in relation to the services the Council provides via the Customer

84

Eastleigh Borough Council

Care portal. This does not include informal appreciative comments received by
Corporate Leadership Board and staff each year.

3.2

Out of 114 compliments, 24 individual service areas were recognised with 28
individual staff having been acknowledged.

3.3

The number of compliments does vary year on year, with fewer received for the
current year than the two preceding years. This is an area the Council has little
influence over because it is at the discretion of the individual if they wish to log a
compliment with the Council via the Customer Care portal.
Year
2019/20
2020/21
2021/22

Number of
Compliments
152
146
114

Increase/Decrease on
previous year
9% increase
4% decrease
22% decrease

Summary of Complaints received 1 April 2021 – 31 March 2022
4.0

This report does not include data relating to complaints received about matters that
are the responsibility of another authority or organisation.

4.1

The Council received 364 complaints in the above period compared to 357 in the
same period 2020 – 2021, (see appendix 2).

4.2

Whilst the overall number of complaints received at Level One has decreased, (by
2%) in comparison to the previous year, the number being escalated to Level 2 has
increased, (by 51%)., Work will be undertaken to investigate the reasons for this and
to reduce the number of complaints that are escalated.

4.3

For comparison, during 1 April 2019 – 31 March 2020 the Council received 502
complaints; 477 were logged as Level 1; 5%, (no. 22) were escalated to Level Two
and three were escalated to the LGO. (See appendix 2 and table below for
breakdown of complaints data. LGO data is logged outside of Salesforce).

4.4

In summary we have seen an overall increase in the total number of complaints
received in 2021/22 of seven or 2%.

Year
2020/19
2020/21
2021/22

4.5

Number of Complaints Increase/Decrease on
previous year
502
8% decrease
357
30% decrease
364
2% increase

Please see below additional data for the year broken down by levels:

Eastleigh Borough Council

85

Year

Level 1

Level 2

Ombudsman

2019–2020. Total 502

477

22

3

2020-2021. Total 357

335

18

4

2021–2022. Total 364

329

35

Figures from
the LGO for
2021/22 were
not available at
the time of
writing this
report.

Local Government & Social Care Ombudsman (LGO)
5.0 From April 2016 the LGO established a new mechanism for ensuring the
recommendations made to councils are implemented, where these were agreed to.
The LGO follows up with the Council and seeks evidence of complaints remedied, and
of agreed recommendations implemented.
5.1 Annual data has been published on the LGO website in an aim to be transparent and
provide information that aids the scrutiny of local
services. https://www.lgo.org.uk/your-councils-performance/eastleigh-boroughcouncil/statistics
5.2 For the year ending 31 March 2021, there were 4 complaints that were referred to the
LGO. These were investigated by the LGO and all 4 complaints were upheld. In 100%
of cases the LGO were satisfied the Council had successfully implemented the LGO’s
recommendations. Figures from the LGO for 2021/22 were not available at the time of
writing this report and are due to be published in July 2022.

86

Eastleigh Borough Council

Report findings and recommendations for complaints management.
6.0 Since the last report in January 2021 –The Case Management Team Leader for
Service Delivery and Case Management Officers have overseen the management of
complaints and associated performance. This monitoring has continued to deliver a
reduction in the number of complaints that go over the Service Level Agreement (SLA)
and achieving the target of 25% or less over SLA.
6.1 Corporate training on investigating and writing complaint responses and
complaints handling for EBC staff – Effective Responses to Complaints in the
Public Sector Training course can be done virtually by Understanding ModernGov to
better improve handling complaints. We are currently looking at this and other options,
such as internal training and Tone of Voice training to improve staff skills in this area.
6.2 Focus attention on the areas of the Council which have the highest numbers of
complaints – The Case Management Team Leader has been working closely with
relevant Service Leads to reduce the numbers of complaints e.g., Neighbourhood
Services. Reports and dashboards are now available and being used in
Neighbourhoods Services to assist staff with monitoring and managing their own
complaints and understand the reasons for complaints, monitor complaint response
times and prevent complaints from going over (SLA).
6.3 These interventions have contributed to a continued improvement in the complaint
handling times. Whilst performance has significantly improved, the goal is to maintain
the improvement and review the KPI to improve performance still further. Please see
below the KPI figures from April 2021 to March 2022.

Financial Implications
7.0 Improvements to the management of complaints and future reporting arrangements
will arise because of the Salesforce system being rolled out across the Council. There
are therefore no financial implications associated directly to this report.

Climate Change and Environmental Implications
8.0 There are no significant Climate Change implications from this report, or the
complaints process itself. Complaints sometimes involve further remedial action by
services to resolve issues, which may have climate change implications e.g., extra
trips by waste and recycling collection vehicles. Council services aim to reduce any
duplication of service actions to keep climate impacts as low as possible.

Eastleigh Borough Council

87

Risk Assessment
9.0 There is a risk that if the recommendations from the review are not implemented or
are delayed, then performance may slip. However, the staff training and the dedicated
officer for overseeing performance will prevent this. In addition, the number of
complaints out of SLA is one of the Key Performance Indicators that form the monthly
monitoring received by the Corporate Leadership Board so that any reduction of
performance will be addressed immediately.

Equality and Diversity Implications
10.0 The Customer Care process is accessible to all residents; residents unable to submit
a compliment or complaint online or via email can do so via letter or by phone (with a
member of Customer Service Centre staff taking details). During the period of 01 April
2021 – 31 March 2022 364 complaints were logged, 261 were received via the
website, 18 by email, 6 by letter, 1 by face to face and 78 by phone or staff portal.
Responses to complaints are given via accessible forms of communication for each
complainant, e.g., complaints received by post are responded to in letter format.
10.1 The audit of the compliments and complaints received indicates that in relation to the
Customer Care process, there are no equalities issues, and the Council does not ask
for personal data when making a complaint.
10.2

The audit of the compliment and complaints received indicates that in relation to
services there are no equality issues identified.

10.3

There were no upheld Ombudsman complaints concerning equalities issues.

Conclusion
11.0

This report provides data and information on the compliments and complaints received
and information relating to complaints escalated to the Local Government and Social
Care Ombudsman. Work continues with improving the management of complaints and
with training on complaints responses. This report also highlights the increase in the
number of complaints being escalated from Level 1 to level 2 and the outcome of
complaints escalated to the LGO. Work will be undertaken to investigate the reasons
for this and identify where improvements can be made.

JESSICA BANKS
Date:
Contact Officer:
Tel No:
e-mail:
Appendices Attached:

5th July 2022
Jessica Banks
8193
jessica.banks@eastleigh.gov.uk
2

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - SECTION 100D

88

Eastleigh Borough Council

The following is a list of documents which disclose facts or matters on which this report or
an important part of it is based and have been relied upon to a material extent in the
preparation of this report. This list does not include any published works or documents
which would disclose exempt or confidential information.
* List Background Papers or state None.

Eastleigh Borough Council

89

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix 1.
Compliments by year graphs

Compliments received by year
160

140

120

100

80

60

40

20

0
2019/2020

2020/2021
Compliments received by year

2021/2022

91

92

Appendix 1.
Compliments by year graphs
Compliments by year 2019/2020

Appendix 1.
Compliments by year graphs
Compliments by year 2020/2021

93

94

Appendix 1.
Compliments by year graphs

Compliments by year 2021/2022

Appendix 2.
Complaints by year graphs

Complaints by year Level 1 & 2 only
600

500

400

300

200

100

0

2019/2020

2020/2021
Complaints by year Level 1 & 2 only

2021/2022

95

96

Appendix 2.
Complaints by year graphs

Complaints by year 2019 – 2020

Appendix 2.
Complaints by year graphs

Complaints by year 2020 – 2021

97

98

Appendix 2.
Complaints by year graphs

Complaints by year 2021 – 2022

EASTLEIGH BOROUGH COUNCIL
FORWARD PLAN: June 2022 - March 2023
This Forward Plan sets out matters which may be considered by Cabinet in the four month period. It includes items on which a “key
decision” is likely to be taken.
A KEY DECISION IS - An executive decision (whether or not taken by the Cabinet) which is likely to:
(1)

result in the Council incurring expenditure or making savings which amount to either £50,000 or 20% (whichever is the
larger) of the gross expenditure budget for the service or general function to which the decision relates; or

(2)

be significant in terms of its effect on communities living or working in an area comprising two or more wards within the
Borough of Eastleigh.

The Plan also includes matters for likely decision relating to the Council’s policy or budget framework.
KEY

ITEM

TO BE
TAKEN BY

DATE
DECISION TO
BE TAKEN

Cabinet

7 Jul 2022

PRE-DECISION
SCRUTINY

DESCRIPTION

Contact Officer /
Cabinet Member

It is recommended that
Cabinet approve the use of
the DEFRA Air Quality Grant
fund of £132,932. This grant
funded project will help
deliver the AQAPs aspiration
to reduce the exposure of
people in the Borough to
poor air quality.

Neil Scott, Senior
Pollution Control
Officer /

7 July 2022
Yes

DEFRA 2021-22 Air Quality
Grant Scheme Award

Agenda Item 11

99

100

KEY

ITEM

TO BE
TAKEN BY

DATE
DECISION TO
BE TAKEN

PRE-DECISION
SCRUTINY

DESCRIPTION

Contact Officer /
Cabinet Member

Yes

Phosphate Mitigation Strategy

Cabinet

7 Jul 2022

This report will ask Cabinet
to approve a mitigation
strategy for the
environmental impacts of
phosphates within the
Borough. It will also look at
a feasibility study for the
creation of wetland.

James Howe,
Executive Head
of Environment /

Yes

Walking and Cycling Strategy
2022-2030

Cabinet

7 Jul 2022

The Walking and Cycling
Strategy sets out the
Councils vision for walking
and cycling, the trends in
travel behaviour and
objectives aimed at providing
and improving the walking
and cycling network in future.
The outcome of the public
consultation and the finalised
Walking and Cycling
Strategy will be presented to
Cabinet for adoption.

Cali Sparks,
Sustainable
Transport Senior
Specialist /

Yes

Response to Hampshire County
Council consultation on
Passenger Transport and
Concessionary Travel

Cabinet

7 Jul 2022

This item will propose a
response from Eastleigh
Borough Council to
Hampshire County Council’s
consultation on changes to
passenger transport services
ending on 24 July.

Diccon Bright,
Strategic
Planning
Manager /

2

KEY

ITEM

TO BE
TAKEN BY

DATE
DECISION TO
BE TAKEN

PRE-DECISION
SCRUTINY

DESCRIPTION

Contact Officer /
Cabinet Member

Yes

Members Allowances - Actual
Amounts Paid 2021/22

Cabinet

7 Jul 2022

Cabinet will be asked to
consider and approve the
report which details the
actual amounts paid in
Members Allowances for the
2021/22 municipal year.

Laura Johnston /

Yes

Corporate Performance and
Financial Monitoring

Cabinet

7 Jul 2022

To consider the quarterly
report outlining the Council’s
performance against
outcomes in the Corporate
Plan.

Tom Andrews,
Finance
Specialist /

Yes

Corporate Complaints Policy

Cabinet

7 Jul 2022

Asking that Cabinet approve
the revised and updated
Corporate Complaints and
Compliments Policy and
Approves the Unreasonably
Persistent Complainants and
Unreasonable Customer
Behaviour Policy.

Louise O'Driscoll,
Executive Head
of Customer
Care /

101

3

102

KEY

Yes

ITEM

Post Office Redevelopment

TO BE
TAKEN BY

DATE
DECISION TO
BE TAKEN

Cabinet

7 Jul 2022

PRE-DECISION
SCRUTINY

DESCRIPTION

Contact Officer /
Cabinet Member

The Post Office project was
Dominic Mackrill /
advertised for tender in April
21 (OJEU). Following the
successful planning
application for the scheme,
and Cabinet approval
January 2021. The returned
tenders were over budget, as
such, it was approved to
enter into a pre-construction
service agreement (PCSA)
to fully design and open
book procure the project with
the lowest most
advantageous tenderer. The
PCSA period is now coming
to an end and
recommendations will be laid
out in the Cabinet report.
This project will result in the
following:
Demolition of existing
buildings;
Construction of two new
buildings containing ground
floor lettable spaces and
residential units above
(10no. in the front building
and 18no. in the rear
building); and
Public Realm space between
the new buildings.
Cabinet approval is required
to approve the additional
proposed budget following
this detailed PCSA period.

4

KEY

ITEM

TO BE
TAKEN BY

DATE
DECISION TO
BE TAKEN

PRE-DECISION
SCRUTINY

DESCRIPTION

Contact Officer /
Cabinet Member

Yes

Community Investment
Programme Scheme(s)
Approval

Cabinet

7 Jul 2022

To consider and approve the
Community Infrastructure
Projects (CIP).

Tom Andrews,
Finance
Specialist /

Yes

Property Transactions

Cabinet

7 Jul 2022

To consider and approve
property transactions.

Jacqui Baxter,
Lead Asset
Manager /
Councillor Keith
House

The approval of a new Body
Warn Video Policy to
facilitate its use by Local
Area Services in carrying out
their duties. The policy will
have been approved by
Audit and Resources prior to
submission to Cabinet.

Harry Lee,
Corporate Project
Manager /

15 September 2022
Yes

Approval of new Body Worn
Video Policy

Cabinet

15 Sep 2022

Yes

Vehicle and Plant Replacement
Programme 2022/23

Cabinet

15 Sep 2022

Cabinet will be asked to
consider and approve a
report that sets out the
vehicle and plant needs for
the Council for 2022/23.

Mandy
Nellthorpe,
Business Partner
/

Yes

Property Transactions

Cabinet

15 Sep 2022

To consider and approve
property transactions.

Jacqui Baxter,
Lead Asset
Manager /

Audit &
Resources
Committee

103

5

104

KEY

Yes

ITEM

Community Investment
Programme Scheme(s)
Approval

TO BE
TAKEN BY

DATE
DECISION TO
BE TAKEN

PRE-DECISION
SCRUTINY

DESCRIPTION

Contact Officer /
Cabinet Member

Cabinet

15 Sep 2022

To consider and approve
projects within the
Community Investment
Programme (CIP).

Tom Andrews,
Finance
Specialist /

20 October 2022
Yes

Property Transactions

Cabinet

20 Oct 2022

To consider and approve
property transactions.

Jacqui Baxter,
Lead Asset
Manager /

Yes

Community Investment
Programme Scheme(s)
Approval

Cabinet

20 Oct 2022

To consider and approve
projects within the
Community Investment
Programme (CIP).

Tom Andrews,
Finance
Specialist /

8 December 2022
Yes

Property Transactions

Cabinet

8 Dec 2022

To consider and approve
property transactions.

Jacqui Baxter,
Lead Asset
Manager /

Yes

Community Investment
Programme Scheme(s)
Approval

Cabinet

8 Dec 2022

To consider and approve
projects within the
Community Investment
Programme (CIP).

Tom Andrews,
Finance
Specialist /

19 January 2023

6

KEY

ITEM

Yes

TO BE
TAKEN BY

DATE
DECISION TO
BE TAKEN

PRE-DECISION
SCRUTINY

DESCRIPTION

Contact Officer /
Cabinet Member

Vehicle and Plant Replacement
Programme for the next 5 years

Cabinet

19 Jan 2023

Cabinet will be asked to
consider and approve a
report that sets out the
vehicle and plant needs for
the Council for the next 5
years.

Sarah King,
Corporate
Director /

Yes

Property Transactions

Cabinet

19 Jan 2023

To consider and approve
property transactions.

Jacqui Baxter,
Lead Asset
Manager /

Yes

Community Investment
Programme Scheme(s)
Approval

Cabinet

19 Jan 2023

To consider and approve
projects within the
Community Investment
Programme (CIP).

Tom Andrews,
Finance
Specialist /

23 March 2023
Yes

Property Transactions

Cabinet

23 Mar 2023

To consider and approve
property transactions.

Jacqui Baxter,
Lead Asset
Manager /

Yes

Community Investment
Programme Scheme(s)
Approval

Cabinet

23 Mar 2023

To consider and approve
projects within the
Community Investment
Programme (CIP).

Tom Andrews,
Finance
Specialist /

105

FOOTNOTES:
Public Participation will apply to enable representations to be made at the time the decision is to be taken.
Written reports for public items will be available as part of the agenda papers and are usually available one week prior to
the meeting.
7

106

KEY

ITEM

Contact Officer:
Publication Date:

Laura Johnston –Democratic Services Manager
06 July 2022

TO BE
TAKEN BY

DATE
DECISION TO
BE TAKEN

PRE-DECISION
SCRUTINY

DESCRIPTION

Contact Officer /
Cabinet Member

8

Agenda Item 12

Policy & Performance Scrutiny
Panel Work Plan 2022/23
14 July 2022
Topic
Climate and Environmental Emergency update
Complaints Performance
Planning T&F Kick off discussion
KPI review

Attendees
Andy Brennan (Item TBC)
Jess Hatch
Andy Grandfield
Lewis Goold

08 September 2022
Topic
Environment Act/Waste Changes briefing
Project resourcing/LACs
Cultural Strategy
Quarter 1 monitoring

Attendees
Paul Naylor
TBC?
Nickola Moore
Joe Mills/CLB

13 October 2022
Topic

Attendees

24 November 2022
Topic
Quarter 2 monitoring
Development Management Review

Attendees
Joe Mills/CLB

December 2022
(no meeting - late November meeting and no second Cabinet cycle for December)

12 January 2023
Topic
Climate and Environment Emergency Action Plan update
Young People not in employment, education or training

Attendees

9 February 2023
Topic
Quarter 3 monitoring

Attendees
Joe Mills/CLB

107

March 2023
Topic

Attendees

2023/24
Topic
Quarter 4 monitoring
Community Safety Partnership Annual Review

Attendees
Joe Mills/CLB

Items Anticipated but not Scheduled
Topic
Hospital Consultation (External Consultation)
Tree Risk Management Plan
Strategic Land Plans
Refugee Response Review

108

Suggested Month

